
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Regeneration and 
Development Panel 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 

Wednesday, 5th June, 2024 
at 6.00 pm 
 
 
 
in the 
 
 
 

Council Chamber, Town Hall, King’s Lynn 
and available for the public to view on 
WestNorfolkBC on You Tube 

 
 

 
 

 

https://www.youtube.com/user/WestNorfolkBC


 

 
 
 
 
King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX 
Telephone: 01553 616200 
 
Tuesday, 28 May 2024 
 
Dear Member 
 
Regeneration and Development Panel 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the above-mentioned Panel which will be held 
on Wednesday, 5th June, 2024 at 6.00 pm in the Town Hall, Saturday Market 
Place, King's Lynn to discuss the business shown below. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
Chief Executive 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1.   Appointment of Vice Chair for the Municipal Year   
 

2.   Apologies for absence   

 To receive any apologies for absence. 

3.   Minutes  (Pages 5 - 11) 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting. 

4.   Declarations of Interest  (Page 12) 

 Please indicate if there are any interests which should be declared.  A 
declaration of interest should indicate the nature of the interest (if not already 
declared on the Register of Interests) and the agenda item to which it relates.  
If a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared, the Member should withdraw 
from the room whilst the matter is discussed. 
 
Those declarations apply to all Members present, whether the Member is part 
of the meeting, attending to speak as a local Member on an item or simply 
observing the meeting from the public seating area. 
 



5.   Urgent Business   

 To consider any business which, by reason of special circumstances, the 
Chair proposes to accept as urgent under Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act, 1972. 

6.   Members Present Pursuant to Standing Order 34   

 Members wishing to speak pursuant to Standing Order 34 should inform the 
Chair of their intention to do so and what items they wish to be heard before a 
decision on that item is taken.   

7.   Chair's Correspondence   

 If any. 

8.   Appointments to Task Groups and Informal Working Groups  (Pages 13 - 
14) 
 

9.   To agree the Terms of Reference for the Transport and Infrastructure 
Informal Working Group  (Page 15) 

 This Informal Working Group was established by the Panel at their meeting on 
16th April 2024 with Members Bearshaw, Bubb, Blunt and Kemp. 
 
Draft Terms of Reference are attached for the Panel’s consideration. 

10.   King's Lynn Transport Strategy and STARS Update  (Pages 16 - 85) 

 Representatives from Norfolk County Council will be present at the meeting to 
provide an update. 

11.   Cabinet Report - Local Plan Update - Process to adoption including Main 
Modifications Consultation  (Pages 86 - 100) 
 

12.   Work Programme and Forward Decision List  (Pages 101 - 107) 
 

13.   Date of the next meeting   

 To note that the next meeting of the Regeneration & Development Panel is 
scheduled to take place on 23rd July 2024 at 6.00pm in the Town Hall, King’s 
Lynn. 

 
To: 
 
Regeneration and Development Panel: S Bearshaw, P Beal, R Blunt, A Bubb, J 
Collingham, R Colwell, C Crofts, S Everett, P Hodson, S Lintern, S Nash and J 
Osborne.  
 
Portfolio Holder: 
Councillor Moriarty – Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Development – Items 9, 
10 and 11. 



  
 
Officers 
Duncan Hall – Assistant Director 
Jemma Curtis – Regeneration Programmes Manager 
Alex Fradley – Planning Policy Manager 
 
By Invitation: 
Officers from Norfolk County Council for Agenda Item 10. 



 
1062 

 

BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN & WEST NORFOLK 
 

REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT PANEL 
 

Minutes from the Meeting of the Regeneration and Development Panel held 
on Tuesday, 16th April, 2024 at 6.00 pm in the Town Hall, Saturday Market 

Place, King's Lynn 
 

PRESENT: Councillors Bearshaw (Chair), Beal, Blunt, Bone,  
Bubb, Crofts, Dickinson, Heneghan and Kemp.  

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDERS: 
Councillor Beales – Portfolio Holder for Business 
Councillor de Whalley – Portfolio Holder for Biodiversity and Climate Change 
Councillor Morley – Portfolio Holder for Finance (remotely) 
 
OFFICERS: 
Duncan Hall – Assistant Director 
Matthew Henry – Assistant Director 
Hannah Wood-Handy – Planning Control Manager 
 
PRESENT UNDER STANDING ORDER 34: Councillor Colwell (remotely)  

 
 

RD99:   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Collingham. 
 

RD100:   MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED: The minutes from the previous meeting were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

RD101:   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
Councillors Heneghan and Beales declared an interest in RD108 as 
Members of the King’s Lynn Town Deal Board. 
 

RD102:   URGENT BUSINESS  
 

There was none. 
 

RD103:   MEMBERS PRESENT PURSUANT TO STANDING ORDER 34  
 

Councillor Colwell was present remotely under Standing Order 34. 
 

5

Agenda Item 3

https://youtu.be/EcbD12cP-uA?t=146


 
1063 

 

RD104:   CHAIR'S CORRESPONDENCE  
 

There was none. 
 

RD105:   CABINET REPORT - CIL APPLICATIONS REFERRED TO CABINET  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
The Planning Control Manager presented the Cabinet Report.  It was 
noted that the CIL Spending Panel had delegated powers to approve 
and sign off applications up to £50k and those over £50k fell to Cabinet 
to decide.  There was one application over £50k during this round for 
Cabinet to consider, which was Terrington St John Parish Council – 
Purchase of former church as Village Hall.  £150,000 had been 
requested. 
 
The Chair thanked the Planning Control Manager for the report and 
invited questions and comments from the Panel, as summarised below. 
 
The Vice Chair spoke in support of the application and that it would be 
a welcome resource for the community.  In response to a question the 
Planning Control Manager confirmed that the Parish Council had 
supported the scheme with match funding. 
 
The Chair supported the application and stated that a Village Hall 
Committee had been set up in 2004 and worked hard to raise funds. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Bone, it was confirmed that 
the asset would belong to the Parish. 
 
Councillor Crofts noted that there wasn’t a village hall in the Village so 
the application should be supported. 
 
Councillor Blunt asked if there would be any extra costs and it was 
explained that a reserve fund had been allocated as part of the project. 
 
Councillor Kemp indicated her support for the application, but felt that 
more should be done for the West Lynn Footpath.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Panel supports the recommendation to Cabinet 
as set out below: 
 
That Cabinet consider and confirm the applications for CIL 
Infrastructure Funding. 
 

RD106:   WORK PROGRAMME AND FORWARD DECISION LIST  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube. 
 

6

https://youtu.be/EcbD12cP-uA?t=194
https://youtu.be/EcbD12cP-uA?t=500


 
1064 

 

The Chair informed the Panel that he would like to set up an 
Infrastructure Informal Working Group.  Draft Terms of Reference 
would be worked up and presented to the Panel in due course.  The 
Informal Working Group would link in with the King’s Lynn Transport 
Strategy and future plans relating to Rail and Housing need. 
 
Councillors indicated their interest in sitting on the Informal Working 
Group and the Chair explained that any other Members, not on the 
Regeneration and Development Panel who would like to be involved 
should contact him. 
 
The Assistant Director commented that the session the Panel had 
previously, brainstorming ideas, had been useful and comments had 
been passed onto Norfolk County Council to feed into the King’s Lynn 
Transport Strategy.  He welcomed this Informal Working Group to 
focus on strategy and aspirations for Transport and Infrastructure. 
 
The Panel considered the Work Programme and Forward Decisions 
List.   Councillor Bone asked for an update on Alive West Norfolk 
proposals to come to the Panel and it was explained that a report was 
scheduled to be presented to Cabinet in June and the Panel Chairs 
would decide between them which Panel would be best suited to 
consider the report.   
 
Councillor Dickinson referred to the ‘to be scheduled’ items on the 
Work Programme and asked if these could be programmed in.  The 
Chair agreed to look at this with officers at the sifting meeting. 
 
Councillor Kemp commented that the forthcoming Economic Strategy 
needed to include Broadband provision and referred to a review of 
Broadband being carried out by BDUK.  The Assistant Director agreed 
to pass her comments onto the relevant officers and it was noted that 
the Panel were due to receive an update on the Economic Strategy at 
their meeting in June. 
 
RESOLVED: 1. That the Regeneration and Development Panel 
establish an Infrastructure Informal Working Group comprising of 
Councillors Bearshaw, Bubb, Blunt and Kemp.  The Democratic 
Services Officer to arrange the first meeting of the Group and officers 
to work with the Chair of the Panel to produce draft Terms of 
Reference. 
 
2. The Panel’s Work Programme for 2024/2025 was noted. 
 

RD107:   DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING  
 

The next meeting of the Regeneration and Development Panel would 
be held on Wednesday 5th June 2024 at 6.00pm in the Town Hall. 
 

RD108:   RIVERFRONT RIBA STAGE 3  

7



 
1065 

 

 

Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
The Assistant Director presented the Panel with information on the 
Riverfront RIBA Stage 3.  A copy of the presentation is attached. 
 
The Assistant Director explained that the projects included in the 
presentation were Town Deal funded projects.  Project objectives and 
constraints were highlighted as part of the presentation along with 
information on how the proposals had been developed in response to 
feedback. 
 
It was noted that RIBA stage 2 was the concept and RIBA stage 3, 
which was now being presented to the Panel, contained more detail, 
but was still subject to further consultation and refinement. 
 
Custom House and Purfleet Quay 
 
After receiving information from the Assistant Director on this element 
of the project, the Chair invited questions and comments from the 
Panel, as summarised below. 
 
The Chair commented that the use of natural light was good. 
 
Councillor Bone commented that some of his residents were outraged 
by the use of glazed units and felt that this type of restoration was 
close to vandalism.  He commented that the best use of the Customs 
House was as a Tourist Information Centre, and this could be 
enhanced with an additional onsite offer such as retail. He also 
commented that making the building accessible was a positive, but 
questioned the removal of historical elements of the building to instal a 
lift.  Councillor Bone also did not feel that the design improved the 
Purfleet Quay and removed some of the historical assets.  The 
Assistant Director commented that resident and local business 
consultation events had taken place and there were quite a lot of 
dividing views and opinions.  He explained that discussions were still 
ongoing with Historic England on the design and pre-app advice had 
been sought. 
 
In response to questions from the Vice Chair, Councillor Heneghan, it 
was explained that seating would be installed along the Purfleet and 
would be considerate of the event space.  The Anchor and Chain was 
still under discussion. 
 
Councillor Beal commented that a food and beverage offer at the 
Custom House would ensure it was sustainable and it would be a 
desirable location for people to visit.  The Assistant Director agreed 
that it was a perfect area to sit and enjoy food and drinks, but 
ventilation, extraction and installation of a commercial kitchen was 
difficult for the Grade 1 Listed Building. 

8

https://youtu.be/EcbD12cP-uA?t=1133


 
1066 

 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Bubb, it was explained that 
the Council did not own the Customs House, but had a lengthy lease, 
which would be renegotiated and extended as required.  It was 
explained that the owners of the building were supportive of the 
proposals as they wanted to see the site put to the best use. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and Biodiversity, Councillor de 
Whalley asked what was envisaged for flood defences and it was 
explained that the design would ensure that the defences were not 
worse than before. 
 
Councillor Crofts commented that the Customs House was suited for a 
food and drink offer and asked if there were any restrictions on 
licences. The Assistant Director explained that this would be a matter 
for the Licensing Committee to consider at the appropriate time.  He 
also explained that the lease had a ‘user clause’, which would be 
discussed with the owner if required. 
 
The Chair asked if five toilets were necessary on the first floor, as this 
felt a bit excessive.  The Assistant Director believed that the number of 
toilets included in the design were to allow maximum occupancy in the 
building and was based on demand during events, but he would raise 
this issue. 
 
In response to a question from the Chair, it was explained that under 
the lease, the Council were responsible for repairs. 
 
The Assistant Director commented that there were cellars under the 
building, but they were low in height and would require significant work 
to make them useable. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Business, Councillor Beales welcomed the 
wide-ranging discussion and useful comments.  He commented that it 
was important to bring the building back into use to conserve it and that 
the space needed to be useable, accessible and versatile.  He 
commented that design was subjective, and everyone had differing 
views, but it was important to conserve and respect the heritage of the 
building whilst ensuring that the funding allocated through the Towns 
Fund was spent. 
 
Devils Alley 
 
After receiving information from the Assistant Director on this element 
of the project, the Chair invited questions and comments from the 
Panel, as summarised below. 
 
The Chair welcomed the proposals to improve this eyesore area and 
commented that he was pleased that there were no longer any plans 
for a tower. 
 

9



 
1067 

 

Councillor Bone commented that he liked the wide range of events held 
in the town, but often received complaints from residents.  He hoped 
that these proposals would mitigate some of the problems local 
residents faced, as it would give more space for vendors.   Councillor 
Bone also commented that he liked the mix of modern and historic 
proposed design, which he felt would enhance the space.  The 
Assistant Director commented that he hoped the project would make 
the surrounding site more marketable and perhaps attract a hotel in the 
area.   
 
In response to a question from the Chair regarding the use of steel, the 
Assistant Director commented that it would likely be a painted 
structure, but he would confirm. 
 
The Vice Chair, Councillor Heneghan liked the design and felt that it 
made good use of the space.  She asked what would be put in place to 
deter antisocial behaviour and street drinking and the Assistant 
Director commented that antisocial behaviour would be addressed and 
managed by the likely use of CCTV and management by the Public 
Open Space Team.  He also commented that if the space was well 
used and popular it was less likely to attract antisocial behaviour. 
 
It was confirmed that upkeep of planting and trees would be managed 
by the Council’s Public Open Space Team. 
 
Councillor Bubb asked how the trees would be protected from salt 
water and the Assistant Director explained that there were voids under 
the surface which could be filled with soil and would be suitable for 
mature trees. 
 
Councillor Colwell supported the proposals and was pleased to see an 
area available for events.  He liked the mix of historic and modern 
design, but was disappointed that flags and banners were no longer 
included in the design.  The Assistant Director explained that the 
installation of flags and banners had been challenging due to the 
location falling within a Conservation Area. 
 
Councillor Bubb commented that there was an old Railway Line 
running under the surface and that this could be exposed as a feature.  
The Assistant Director commented that there was no funding for this 
under the current proposals, but this was something that could be 
looked at in the future. 
 
The Chair suggested that the proposed sculpture, which had a gap in 
the middle, could be used as a projector displaying images to celebrate 
the history of the area. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Business, Councillor Beales, thanked the 
Panel for their comments and that he hoped the project would generate 
economic activity in the area.  He commented that it was important to 
have aspirations for the future to further enhance the site and that there 

10



 
1068 

 

may be other opportunities to bid for funding under the Longer-Term 
Funding for Towns. 
 
Dryside Facilities. 
 
After receiving information from the Assistant Director on this element 
of the project, the Chair invited questions and comments from the 
Panel, as summarised below. 
 
Councillor Bone commented that these facilities were much needed 
and hoped that they would attract additional visitors and bring in more 
visiting vessels.  The Assistant Director commented that the King’s 
Lynn Conservancy Board had recently rented out some moorings 
which had brought in additional visiting craft and made the Quay front 
more vibrant. 
 
In response to a question from the Chair, the Assistant Director 
explained that the facility would be operated by the public open spaces 
team and would likely be accessed with a fob or key which could be 
hired, to prevent misuse. 
 
 
RESOLVED: The Panel noted the update. 
 
 

 
The meeting closed at 7.40 pm 
 

 

11



 

 

            START 
 

          YES ←    → NO 

                      

                                                             YES ↙           ↓ NO 

  

                                                                                                                                            

 YES ←  

                                ↓ NO 

                       

           YES ←       

  

 ↓ NO 

                                                           ↓ YES                     ↓NO                                   

                

                                                           

                                                                                                YES   ↙               ↓ NO 

                                                                      

 YES ←   

      

  NO ← 

 

                                                                                                                         ↙ 

                                                                                        NO TO BOTH           YES TO ONE ↓ 

  

 

Does the matter directly 

relate to one of your DPIs?  

DECLARING AN INTEREST AND MANAGING 

ANY CONFLICTS FLOWCHART 

Does the matter directly 

relate to the finances or 

wellbeing of one of your ERIs? 
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting *  
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting *  

 

Does it directly relate to the 

finances or wellbeing of you, 

a relative or a close associate? 
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting * 

Does it affect the finances or 

wellbeing of you, a relative, a 

close associate or one of my 

ERIs? 

Declare the interest. Are you 

or they affected to a greater 

extent than most people? And 

would  a reasonable person 

think you are biased because 

of the interest?  

Does it relate to a Council 

Company or outside body to 

which you are appointed by 

the Council? 

* without a dispensation 
 
Glossary: 
DPI: Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest 
ERI: Extended Registrable 
Interest 

 

 

 

You have a conflict and 

cannot act or remain in 

the meeting * 

Take part 

as normal 

Does another interest make 

you that feel you cannot act 

in a fair, objective or open 

manner? Would a 

reasonable person knowing 

the same interest think you  

could not act in a fair, 

objective or open manner? 

Declare the 

interest. Do you, or 

would a reasonable 

person think there 

are competing 

interests between 

the Council and the 

company/outside 

body?  

Other actions to mitigate 
against identified conflicts: 
1. Don’t read the papers  
2. Tell relevant officers 
3. Ask to be removed from any 
email recipient chain/group 

 
 

You can remain the meeting if the Chair 

agrees, for you to speak in your external 

capacity only. Do not vote. 

You can take part in discussions but make 

clear which capacity you are speaking in. 

Do not vote.  

You have a 

conflict. Declare 

the interest. Do 

not participate and 

do not vote. 

Declare the interest for 

the sake of openness 

and transparency. Then 

take part as normal. 

12

Agenda Item 4



POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT PANEL REPORT 
 

REPORT TO: Regeneration and Development Panel 

DATE: 5th June 2024 

TITLE: Membership of Task Groups and Informal Working Groups 
2024/2025 

TYPE OF REPORT: Operational 

REPORT AUTHOR: Rebecca Parker, Democratic Services Officer 

OPEN/EXEMPT Open WILL BE SUBJECT 
TO A FUTURE 
CABINET REPORT: 

No 

 
REPORT SUMMARY/COVER PAGE     
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT/SUMMARY: 

This report invites the Regeneration and Development Panel to arrange for the appointment 
of Members to serve on the Informal Working Groups and Task Groups, which have 
previously been established by the Panel, for the municipal year 2024/2025 
 
The Panel has established the following groups: 
 

- Custom and Self Build Policy Development Task Group 
- Guildhall and Creative Hub Task Group 
- Transport and Infrastructure Informal Working Group 

 
The Panel has also established the following Informal Working Group, jointly with the 
Environment and Community Panel: 
 

- Tourism Informal Working Group 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 
1. That the Custom and Self Build Policy Development Task Group continues to 

operate as a 5 member Task Group and the Democratic Services Officer be 
instructed to seek Membership of the Task Group from Group Leaders for the 
2024/2025 Municipal Year. 

2. That the Guildhall and Creative Hub Task Group be disbanded as any future Cabinet 
reports relating to the Guildhall and Creative Hub would be presented to the Panel as 
a whole. 

3. That Terms of Reference for the Transport and Infrastructure Informal Working 
Group be agreed by the Panel so that it can meet, with the Membership agreed by 
the Panel at their meeting in April. 

4. That Members wishing to serve on the Tourism Informal Working Group be notified to 
the Chair of the Environment and Community Panel and the two Panel Chairs liaise 
accordingly. 

 

 
 
For information – 2023/2024 Membership of Groups is below 

Custom and Self Build Policy Development Task Group – Councillors Blunt, Spikings, 

Bone, Lintern and 1 vacancy 

Guildhall and Creative Hub Task Group – Councillors Dark, Bubb, Heneghan, Ryves and 

1 vacancy. 

13

Agenda Item 8



Tourism Informal Working Group: Councillors Beal, Bullen, Bone, Bearshaw, Heneghan, 

Collingham, Dickinson and Rust 

 

Transport and Infrastructure Informal Working Group: Councillors Bearshaw, Bubb, 

Blunt and Kemp 

 

14



King’s Lynn Transport Strategy Informal Working Group 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
 
Terms of reference for a new informal working group as agreed at Regeneration & 
Development Panel on 16th April 2024.   
 
 

1. To assist with the formation of a high-level strategy and action plan for 
Transport in King’s Lynn.  
 

2. The group will consider the existing and future issues and opportunities for 
transport in King’s Lynn over the next 
 

3. The Informal Working Group will be provided with any and all such documents 
as is reasonably needs with it requires to support its work. 
 

4. The Informal Working Group to comprise of XX core members, be Chaired by 
the Chair of the R&D Panel and draw in input from a range of Members and 
experts as required.  
 

5. The Informal working group will be supported by officers at the Borough and County 
Council.  
 

6. The Informal Working Group will be provided with any and all such documents 
as is reasonably needs with it requires to support its work. 
 

 

7. The Informal Working Group can meet in person or remotely.  
 

8. The Informal Working Group to report back their initial findings to the 
Regeneration and Development Panel in xxx 2024 and after that upon request 
from the panel.  
 

9. The Informal Working Group will remain established until such time the 
Regeneration and Development Panel see fit, so that the Informal Working 
Group can conduct post evaluation reviews as required. 

 
 
Terms of reference agreed by at Regeneration & Development Panel 5th June 2024. 
 
 

15

Agenda Item 9



 

 

 

Norfolk County Council and Borough Council 

of King's Lynn and West Norfolk 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy 

Update 

Draft Issues and Opportunities Report 

 

 

16

Agenda Item 10



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's 

Lynn and West Norfolk 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update 

Draft Issues and Opportunities Report 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk  

 

Type of document (version) Public 

 

Project no. 70118741 

Our Ref. No. - 

 

Date: April 2024 

 

WSP 

Unit 9, The Chase 

John Tate Road, Foxholes Business Park 

Hertford 

SG13 7NN 

Phone: +44 1992 526 000 

  

WSP.com 
 

17



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk  

Quality control 

Issue/revision Draft v1.0 Revision 1 Revision 2 Revision 3 

Remarks DRAFT    

Date 18/04/2024    

Prepared by H Panfilova 

T Hemmings 

D Gooding 

   

Signature     

Checked by D Gooding    

Signature     

Authorised by S Biggs    

Signature     

Project number 70118741    

Report number KLTS-Issues& 
Opportunities_v1.0.docx 

   

File reference RP-001    

 

 

18



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk  

Contents 

 

1 Introduction 1 

2 King’s Lynn Overview 4 

3 Vision and Objectives 12 

4 Network Audit: Public Transport 14 

5 Network Audit: Active Modes 29 

6 Network Audit: Highway Network 34 

7 Policy Overview 46 

8 Future Transport Schemes 50 

9 Future Growth 52 

10 Potential Interventions 54 

11 Summary and Next Steps 59 

12 Ongoing Work and Next Steps 61 

 

 

 

[APPENDIX LIST TO BE ADDED] 

[FIGURE LIST TO BE ADDED] 

[CHECK TABLE NUMBERS MATCH TEXT / TABLES] 

 

19



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 1 of 64 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Background 

1.1.1. WSP have been appointed by Norfolk County Council (NCC) to provide an update to the 

current Transport Strategy, that was adopted by the County and Borough Councils in 2020, 

to take account of the latest policy direction and new technologies in the fast-paced 

changing world of transport. This first report provides a review of the transport issues and 

opportunities in King’s Lynn which will then follow on to feed into an updated Transport 

Strategy and Implementation Plan, focussed on addressing the existing transport problems 

whilst enabling new development opportunities and supporting future economic growth. 

1.1.2. The project starts by gaining an understanding of the current and future transport issues to 

provide a focus for future transport interventions in and around the town particularly in 

regard to: 

 Public transport services such as bus, rail, taxi and ferry. 

 The highways network including roads, congestion hotspots, car parks and accident 

clusters. 

 Active travel modes such as cycling, walking and wheeling. 

 Resolving air quality issues in the town. 

 The availability of EV charging throughout the town. 

1.1.3. Centred on King’s Lynn, the strategy is therefore intended to focus on economic growth, 

social inclusion, environmental improvements, reduced emissions, as well as better 

accessibility and connectivity for the town. 

1.1.4. The updated strategy is intended to assist in unlocking the significant potential of King’s 

Lynn by identifying transport barriers to growth and economic development and setting out 

a focus and direction for how this can be addressed. The Borough Council of King’s Lynn 

and West Norfolk (BCKL&WN) Local Plan - Core Strategy sets out that the town has a role 

as a sub-regional centre. It states that it is important to strengthen the retail function 

alongside tourist, leisure facilities and employment development and regeneration.  

1.1.5. The work will include the development of an Implementation Plan. 

Process 

1.1.6. Figure 1 shows the overall process that has been adopted for this study and strategy 

development. 

  

20



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 2 of 64 

Figure 1 – King’s Lynn Transport Study Process 

  

Figure 1. King’s Lynn Transport Strategy Process 

1.1.7. The following provides a summary of the main elements that feed into the update to the 

Transport Strategy.  It is a more light-touch process compared with the previous strategy 

development work: 

 Evidence gathering and analysis to confirm the current transport problems and issues in 

King’s Lynn through a review of the previous work against current policy and a desk-top 

transport network audit covering all modes of travel in King’s Lynn; 

 Setting the Vision and Objectives for the transport strategy; 

 Consideration of the future context of transport and travel in the town by identifying the 

long term development opportunities coming forward through development plans; 

 Stakeholder engagement to feed into the identification of current travel and transport 

problems and to provide initial feedback on potential schemes and opportunities; 

 Preparation of a document to summarise the evidence gathering and network analysis 

stage of the study; 

 Generation of a long list of potential transport measures and initiatives across all modes 

of travel that meet the study vision and objectives and contribute to addressing the 

current and future problems and issues with the transport network within King’s Lynn; 

 Carry out an appraisal of the long list of schemes across all modes of travel, using a 

bespoke Multi Criteria Assessment Framework (MCAF) (based on the DfT Early 

21



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 3 of 64 

Appraisal and Sifting Tool (EAST)) including an assessment against the Vision and 

Objectives leading to a short-list of preferred options to take forward; 

 Stakeholder engagement to discuss the outcomes of the appraisal process for inclusion 

in the Transport Strategy. 

1.1.8. This report focusses on the first stage of the Transport Strategy update which provides a 

review of the existing transport and policy influences in the town including the future 

potential development opportunities.   

1.1.9. The next step will be to include the outcomes of the first Stakeholder engagement event.  

The framework for the assessment of the potential schemes for the town is summarised 

alongside the Vision and Objectives and how these will be used in the following stages of 

the study, these can be found in section 3 of the report. 

1.2 Purpose of Report 

1.2.1. This report provides information supported by evidence to identify the current transport 

issues in King’s Lynn and also provides an overview of future development opportunities in 

the town with a view to identifying how these existing issues could be exacerbated or 

relieved in the future.  This document is structured into the following sections: 

 Section 2 provides an overview of the town and some general information around travel 

and landuse patterns; 

 Section 3 sets out the Vision and Objectives of the Transport Strategy; 

 Section 4 provides a summary of the document review of previous and current studies 

relating to transport and landuse in King’s Lynn;  

 Sections 5 to 7 summarise the desktop audit for each mode of travel and provides an 

overview of the notable issues for each mode, gathered either through the document 

review or the desktop audit initially. [Following the first round of stakeholder engagement 

further information will be added]. 

 Section 5 provides an overview of public transport (rail, bus, ferry and taxi); 

 Section 6 discusses active modes (walking and cycling); 

 Section 7 summarises the highway network including areas of traffic congestion, 

accidents, car parking and air quality. 

 Section 8 considers future growth areas in the King’s Lynn and the potential impacts of 

this growth on the transport network; 

 Section 9 details some general intervention opportunities that could be investigated 

further to accommodate future growth in King’s Lynn. These will be set alongside the 

interventions that were suggested by stakeholders through the engagement process 

during the next stage of the study. This section also considers the previous transport 

strategy and Implementation Plan and whether suggested measures are still relevant or if 

any existing schemes are currently being developed.  

 Section 10 concludes the document with a summary of the next steps in the development 

of the transport strategy for King’s Lynn. 

22



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 4 of 64 

2 King’s Lynn Overview 

2.1 Background 

2.1.1. King’s Lynn is the largest town in the Borough of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk (BKLWN) 

and it acts as a main centre for important services, major employment areas and retail land 

uses for the wider borough. For this study, King’s Lynn is defined as the urban area that 

includes the following districts: 

 King’s Lynn; 

 North Lynn; 

 South Lynn 

 West Winch 

 Gaywood; 

 North Wootton; and 

 South Wootton. 

2.1.2. The boundary of the above settlement is shown with a black dotted line in Figure 2-1 below: 

Figure 2-1 – King’s Lynn Transport Strategy Area 

 

2.1.3. To the west of the town, the River Great Ouse flows in a north /south alignment towards The 

Wash to the north.  While the river has acted as a constraint to the westward expansion of 

the town, it was also the reason for the town’s historic significance as a port, which allowed 

the town to become large compared with other nearby settlements. Due to its historic 

development and importance, King’s Lynn has more than 200 listed buildings and two 

historic market areas.   

23



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 5 of 64 

2.1.4. Given the location of the shoreline, large areas of King’s Lynn are at risk of tidal and/or 

fluvial flooding without the current flood prevention schemes in the area. This limits the 

expansion options, however the areas at lower flood risks are identified in the Core Strategy 

for potential development schemes.  

2.2 Land Use Patterns 

2.2.1. Figure A1 in Appendix A provides a geographical overview of the key land uses in King’s 

Lynn that are prominent generators or attractors of trips within the town and determine the 

travel patterns of residents and visitors to the town. 

2.2.2. The town developed around the historic port, which is the reason for the narrow streets and 

closely spaced buildings in the town centre areas. The town has expanded over the years 

and has become a conurbation of several settlements which are now regarded as districts 

of the urban area, such as The Woottons, Gaywood and North and South Lynn.   

2.2.3. King’s Lynn is a major employment hub for the West Norfolk area and there are several 

major employment areas throughout the town, including: 

 King’s Lynn Port and town centre 

 Hardwick Industrial Estate 

 Hardwick Narrows Industrial Estate 

 Queen Elizabeth Hospital; 

 North Lynn Industrial Estate 

2.2.4. King’s Lynn is also a significant shopping destination for the local area with major retail 

parks being located close to the A47/ A10/ A149 Hardwick interchange in addition to the 

traditional town centre.  King’s Lynn also has several large supermarkets.   

2.2.5. Education in King’s Lynn is spread throughout the town with a number of primary schools 

serving the immediate and surrounding areas, as well as a smaller number of secondary 

schools serving wider catchment areas.  There are four secondary schools in King’s Lynn, 

which attract pupils from the surrounding villages: 

 King Edward VII Academy 

 Springwood High School 

 King’s Lynn Academy 

 St Michael’s CofE Academy 

2.2.6. The University Centre West Anglia, King’s Lynn Campus is located to the east of the town 

centre on Tennyson Avenue / Gaywood Road with a high concentration of public transport 

opportunities available in this area of King’s Lynn as well as being on a highly congested 

corridor. 

2.2.7. There are also a variety of leisure land uses available in the town including Lynnsport and 

St James Swimming Pool, and the town also contains the main hospital and Accident and 

Emergency department for the BKLWN.   

24



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 6 of 64 

2.3 Demographic Data  

2.3.1. The latest census data available for the UK is from 2021.  For this study, we have looked at 

the census data at a Mid-Level Super Output Area (MSOA) Level for the following areas, 

which are also shown in Figure 2-2: 

 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 005 

 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 006 

 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 007 

 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 009 

 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 010 

 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 011 

Figure 2-2 - King's Lynn MSOA for Census Analysis 

 

2.3.2. These MSOA cover almost the entirety of the King’s Lynn urban area, with the exception of 

a small area bounded by the A149, Greenyard Way, Scania Way and Hardwick Road which 

falls into an MSOA which predominantly represents the villages to the south and west of the 

A47.   

2.3.3. The above MSOA also include some small settlements outside the main King’s Lynn urban 

area, however because the majority of the population falls within King’s Lunn it is deemed 

that these areas are the most appropriate to use.  The additional settlements are: 

 West Lynn 

 Castle Rising 

Population 

2.3.4. Table 2-1 summarises the population of the six MSOA covering King’s Lynn from the 2011 

and 2021 censuses, rounded to the nearest hundred.   

25



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 7 of 64 

Table 2-1 – Usual Resident Population of King’s Lynn (approx.) 

Year Population 

2011 46000 

2021 48800 

Net change +6.1% 

Source: 2011 – KS101EW, 2021 TS001 

2.3.5. As of the 2021 census, the population of King’s Lynn was approximately 48,800 people and 

had grown by 6.1% since the 2011 census.   

Travel to Work Mode Share 

2.3.6. The 2021 census cannot be used for assessing journeys to work because it was undertaken 

during one of the lockdown periods of the Covid-19 pandemic and shows a very high 

proportion of home working trips and a tendency towards private travel (walk, cycle car 

driver) compared to what would have been expected during “normal” conditions.  

Consequently, the 2011 census has been used to get an insight into how people had 

travelled to work from King’s Lynn   

2.3.7. Figure 2-3 shows a pie chart of the percentage of people travelling to work by various 

modes of travel from the 2011 census.     

Figure 2-3 - 2011 Method of Travel to Work 

 

2.3.8. Figure 2-3 shows that in 2011 active modes (cycling and walking) accounted for 21% of 

journeys to work trips, public transport about 4% and car drivers about 58%.  The public 

26



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 8 of 64 

transport mode share is 3% (train and bus). A comparison of the King’s Lynn mode share 

with the national average for England and Wales are shown in Table 2-2. 

Table 2-2 – 2011 Method of Travel to Work Comparison (QS703EW) 

Travel Mode King’s Lynn England & Wales 

Active Modes 20.7% 12.6% 

Bus and Train 3.3% 7.2% 

Car/Van Driver 57.8% 54.5% 

Work mainly from home  7.0% 10.3% 

2.3.9. Table 2-2 demonstrates that in 2011, King’s Lynn achieved a relatively high proportion of 

work trips by active modes compared with the national average (20.7% vs 12.6%), a 

relatively low percentage by bus (3.3% vs 7.2%) and showed that fewer people worked 

mainly from home (7.0% vs 10.3%).  It is also noted that the percentage of people travelling 

as a car/van driver was higher than the national average (57.8% vs 54.5%).   

2.3.10. It is very likely that the method of travel to work patterns today will differ from those seen in 

since 2011 because the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic can still be seen in some 

modes of travel.  For example, post-pandemic many offices have adopted a hybrid working 

pattern (part home worker, part commuter) which in some areas has become more 

established, with home working being most likely on Monday and/ or Friday.  

2.4 Journey to Work Trip Length 

2.4.1. As with the method of travel to work data, the journey distance data from the 2011 census 

has been used for this assessment, as the 2021 data is again affected by the Covid-19 

pandemic restrictions.  Table 2-3 shows the average distance travelled to work for the six 

main MSOA covering King’s Lynn, compared with the similar values for King’s Lynn and 

West Norfolk district, Norfolk and England.  It is notable that journeys within King’s Lynn are 

shorter than average in King’s Lynn and West Norfolk,  

Table 2-3 – Average Distance Travelled to Work (2011) 

Geographic Area Distance (km) 

King’s Lynn 11.1 

King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 18.4 

Norfolk  14.9 

England 17.1 

Source: 2011 Census, QS702EW 

27



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 9 of 64 

2.4.2. Figure 2-4 below summarises the distance travelled to work data for the six King’s Lynn 

MSOA by the distance bands from the census data. It also compares this against the 

average for KLWN, Norfolk and England.     

Figure 2-4 – Distance Travelled to work by band comparison (QS702EW)  

 

2.4.3. It is evident from Figure 2-4 that the proportion of short distance <5km trips to King’s Lynn 

town was substantially greater than seen at borough, county or national level (69% vs 40-

43%) – this is because most trips within King’s Lynn are of less than 5km.   

2.4.4. The proportion of trips to work from King’s Lynn within the 5km to 30km range, was 

consequently much lower than the national average, although there were more trips from 

King’s Lynn in the 30km and over range than average nationally (although less than at a 

borough or district level).  The median trip length from King’s Lynn was somewhere between 

2km and 5km, rather than the 5-10km range seen at larger geographies.  

2.4.5. In general, 2km is considered a maximum walking distance and 5km a maximum cycling 

distance.  This means that there is a significant opportunity to encourage King’s Lynn 

residents to travel to work by active modes. 

Workplace Destinations 

2.4.6. The Origin/ Destination (OD) data (WF01EW) from the 2011 census has been reviewed to 

identify where residents of King’s Lynn worked and where people who were employed in 

King’s Lynn lived.  This data is shown in Figures A2 and A3 of Appendix A which show the 

workplace destinations of King’s Lynn residents and the home locations of King’s Lynn’s 

workers respectively.  The OD data is summarised below: 

28



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 10 of 64 

 Of the 18,840 King’s Lynn residents travelling to work: 

 69% worked in King’s Lynn 

 82% worked somewhere in the BCKLWN area; 

 88% worked in Norfolk 

 11% worked in one of the six districts surrounding King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 

(South Holland, Fenland, East Cambridgeshire, West Suffolk, North Norfolk or 

Breckland)  

 Of the over 25,852 employees working in King’s Lynn: 

 49% also lived in King’s Lynn 

 85% of people employed in King’s Lynn live in the KLWN borough area 

 91% live in Norfolk 

 11% live in one of the six districts surrounding KLWN borough.  

2.4.7. It is evident from the 2011 census that King’s Lynn acts as a major employer destination not 

only for its own residents but for the wider borough.  The workplace destinations also back 

up the short travel to work distances shown in the previous section.  

2.4.8. Of particular interest are the people who live and work in King’s Lynn as they have the 

greatest opportunity to transfer to other modes rather than travel by car, such as walking, 

cycling and public transport, and these people would also be the most affected by the 

measures from the King’s Lynn Transport Strategy.   

Car Ownership 

2.4.9. WSP has compared the Car Ownership per Household data from the 2011 census and 

2021 census, which are plotted by census output area (COA) in Figures A4 and A5 of 

Appendix A respectively. It is evident from these figures that the number of COA with less 

than half a car per household decreased while there are now more areas showing 

ownership rates of 0.5 to one per household.  In general, car ownership rates are lower in 

the town centre than they are in the outer areas of King’s Lynn.   

2.4.10. Table 2-4 below compares car ownership levels in King’s Lynn to the national average in 

England and Wales.   

Table 2-4 – Car Ownership (HH = Household) 

 King’s Lynn England and Wales 

Cars/ HH % HH No Car Cars/ HH % HH No Car 

2011 1.11 25% 1.16 26% 

2021 1.19 24% 1.25 23% 

Difference +0.08 -1% +0.09 -3% 

29



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 11 of 64 

Source: 2011 (KS404EW), 2021 (TS045 and TS045A) 

2.4.11. It is evident that the rate of car ownership in King’s Lynn is lower per household than the 

average for England and Wales, with the gap between the two widening between 2011 and 

2021.  It is also notable that the percentage of households without a car is falling at a slower 

rate in King’s Lynn than it is in England and Wales.   

2.4.12. While some aspects of car ownership depend on the financial circumstances of the local 

residents, other factors also influence the need for a second car or the decision not to own a 

car at all.  The highly localised trip focus of many of King’s Lynn residents is likely to factor 

into their car ownership decisions.   

2.5 Summary 

2.5.1. It is evident from the history, setting and the demographic details of King’s Lynn that it is a 

major trip attractor in the local area, and that most residents do not need to leave King’s 

Lynn for the majority of their day to day tasks and needs.  

2.5.2. Inspection of the census data in this report indicates that the King’s Lynn has a much 

shorter travel to work distances, a higher use of active travel modes and a lower rate of car 

ownership than that national average.   

2.5.3. Additionally, the fact that most journeys to work were less than 5km, with nearly a third less 

than 2km, provides a significant opportunity to encourage travel by active modes within 

King’s Lynn.   

 

30



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 12 of 64 

3 Vision and Objectives 

3.1 Introduction 

3.1.1. The proposed Vision and Objectives for this King’s Lynn Transport Strategy update are 

provided in this section.  These have been updated from those that were used in the 

previous Transport Strategy document to reflect current national and local policy direction.  

3.2 Vision Statement 

3.2.1. The vision statement for the transport strategy is similar to the previous one but with a minor 

change to include the need to address health outcomes as follows: 

To support sustainable economic growth in King’s Lynn by facilitating journey reliability and 

improved travel mode choice for all, whilst contributing to improve health; air quality; safety; 

and protection of the built and natural environment.   

3.3 Objectives 

3.3.1. The King’s Lynn Transport Strategy objectives have been updated since the original work 

on the transport strategy.  The previous objectives were as follows: 

 Provide a safe environment for travel by all modes. 

 Encourage town centre accessibility by all modes whilst conserving and enhancing King’s 

Lynn’s rich historic environment. 

 Support sustainable housing and economic growth. 

 Reduce the need to travel by car through development planning. 

 Manage traffic congestion in King’s Lynn. 

 Increase active travel mode share for short journeys. 

 Promote and encourage the use of public transport. 

 Reduce harmful emissions and air quality impacts. 

3.3.2. These have now been updated to the following to reflect current national policy direction 

and to continue to support economic growth in King’s Lynn: 

 Enhance connectivity and accessibility for all within King’s Lynn. 

 Encourage greater use of public transport in King’s Lynn. 

 Encourage modal shift from private car to active travel in King’s Lynn. 

 Support the delivery of planned housing growth and development in the Borough. 

 Protect and enhance King’s Lynn’s heritage and cultural environment through place-

making. 

 Improve local air quality and King’s Lynn’s natural environment and reduce overall 

transport emissions. 

 Improve road safety in King’s Lynn. 

31



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 13 of 64 

3.3.3. The Transport Strategy will be set within the context of the current policy and future 

development framework.  However, as transport and travel choices continue to evolve the 

implementation of strategy will need to be reflect these changes.   

3.3.4. The Transport Strategy will follow the understanding of the issues and opportunities, and 

concentrate primarily on the Short to Medium term (5 to 10 years) up to 2035, whilst also 

identifying some long-term aspirations for King’s Lynn transport network (beyond 2035). 

3.3.5. The implementation plan measures will address issues on the transport network to improve 

accessibility and help to make King’s Lynn more attractive to economic investment and 

assist existing and new businesses within the town. The measures will also take account of 

the planned growth to ensure the towns can grow sustainably and will protect the historic 

areas of the towns which are important for their ability to attract visitors. 

32



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 14 of 64 

4 Network Audit: Public Transport 

4.1 Introduction 

4.1.1. This section is structured to provide an overview of the baseline information about the range 

of public transport service provided in King’s Lynn, followed by specific information relating 

to the 2021 Census journey to work for that mode.  A summary of the main problems and 

issues identified through a combination of document review, local observations and inputs 

from the officer and stakeholder consultations is also provided.  The following public 

transport modes are available: 

 Bus 

 Passenger Ferry 

 Rail 

 Taxi 

4.2 Bus 

King’s Lynn Bus Station 

4.2.1. King’s Lynn bus station is situated off Market Street, to the rear of Sainsbury’s and B&M, at 

a central location to the town (King’s Lynn, PE30 1DS) and serves the surrounding villages, 

towns and rural areas. The bus station comprises a canopy covered area for passengers 

with a series of drive in, reverse out bus stops.  There are also bus stand spaces which 

allow buses to be parked within the bus station area between runs.  There is both printed 

and electronic bus information available for passengers, toilets and seating and CCTV 

ensuring passenger safety. 

4.2.2. The bus station was refurbished in 2016 and follow-up surveys suggested that users were 

content with the improvements that were made. The bus station is located within a 2-3 

minute walk of King’s Lynn railway station which establishes the centre of King’s Lynn as a 

public transport hub.  There is also a bus stop located immediately outside the railway 

station entrance which is served by the majority of services from the bus station.  

4.2.3. Bus routes from the south access the bus station from Railway Road via Old Market Street.  

Buses heading south from the bus station use Portland Street to cut across the gyratory to 

avoid travelling all around the northern part of the gyratory to head south.  With the levels of 

peak hour congestion on the gyratory typically being high, bus services reliability can be 

severely affected by the operation of this key part of their network.  Bus services from the 

north and the east have to travel south past the rail station along Blackfriars Road and 

Railway Street to access the bus station which can add delay to the journey during the peak 

hours.  

4.2.4. Figure A6 of Appendix A shows the roads served by local bus services and 400m 

accessibility areas, based on crow-fly distances, around each bus stop. This plan shows 

33



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 15 of 64 

that the majority of the King’s Lynn urban area can be accessed by bus and around a five-

minute walk from a bus stop.   

4.2.5. The bus service frequencies vary across the town with a high concentration of bus services 

on Gaywood Road (A148) and also the Queen Elizabeth Hospital.  Most residential areas 

have at least 3 buses per hour including North Wootton. South Wootton has a lower bus 

service frequency overall at 1 to 2 buses per hour.  It is notable that bus services do not use 

Tennyson Avenue in their routing and therefore leaving parts of the residential areas, 

Rollesby /Oldmeadow Industrial area and parts of Pierpoint Retail park unserved by bus.  

Education transport services do make use of Tennyson Avenue. 

4.2.6. A number of local circular routes operate alongside inter-urban and connections to the rural 

communities outside King’s Lynn.  Places served include Hunstanton, Wells, Cromer and 

Fakenham to the east; and Wisbech and March to the south. 

Bus Priority 

4.2.7. There are currently four locations in King’s Lynn where measures to assist the priority of 

buses is available: 

 Bus and cycle only route on Hardings Way from the junction with Wisbech Road to Boal 

Quay car park including rising bollards at both ends – this route is currently seldom used 

by buses; 

 Bus priority signals at the bus stop outside the rail station; 

 Bus lane on Stonegate Street up to the junction with Tower Place; 

 Bus lane on Millfleet up to the junction with London Road. 

Bus Operators and Service Details 

4.2.8. There are five main bus operators in King’s Lynn, namely: 

 Go To Town 

 Lynx 

 Coach Services 

 First Bus; and 

 Stagecoach 

4.2.9. Go To Town is one of the two bus operators that provide most of the bus services in King’s 

Lynn, primarily offering local, circular services operating within the King’s Lynn urban area.    

34



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 16 of 64 

4.2.10. Table 4-1 summarises the local bus services operated by Go To Town from King’s Lynn bus 

station.  

  

35



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 17 of 64 

Table 4-1 - Bus Services operated by Go To Town (as on 27 March 2023) 

Service Route Mon-Fri Saturday Sunday 

2 King’s Lynn - 
North Lynn 

30 mins 30 mins Hourly 

3 King’s Lynn - 
North Wootton 

20 mins 30 mins Hourly 

3H King’s Lynn - 
South Lynn 
(Circular) 

80-100 mins 80-100 mins No Service 

3H King’s Lynn - 
South Wootton 
(circular) 

80-100 mins 80-100 mins No Service 

4 King’s Lynn - 
North Lynn 

30 mins Hourly One Journey 

5 King’s Lynn - 
Gaywood 

Hourly Hourly No Service 

32 King’s Lynn - 
Mileham 

Two Services No Service 1 No Service 

47 King’s Lynn - 
Downham 
Market 

One service No Service 2 No Service 

 

4.2.11. The second main bus operator is Lynx, which operates bus services from King’s Lynn to 

nearby towns such as Hunstanton, Fakenham and Downham Market. Table 4-2 

summarises the bus services from King’s Lynn bus station that are operated by Lynx.  

36



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 18 of 64 

Table 4-2 - Bus Services operated by Lynx (as on 27 March 2023) 

Service Route Mon-Fri Saturday Sunday 

33 King’s Lynn - 
Hunstanton 

Three 
departures 

Two 
departures 

No Service 

34 King’s Lynn - 
Hunstanton 

30 mins 30 mins Hourly 

35 King’s Lynn - 
Hunstanton 

Hourly Hourly Hourly 

36 King’s Lynn - 
Fakenham (Coastliner) 

30 mins 30 mins 30 mins 

37 King’s Lynn - 
Downham Market 

Hourly Hourly No Service 

38 King’s Lynn - Fair 
Green 

Two 
Departures 

Two 
departures 

No Service 

39 King’s Lynn - Marham Six Departures Six Departures Two Hourly 

41 King’s Lynn - King’s 
Reach 

Two Services No Service No Service 

42 King’s Lynn - Fairstead 
(Circular) 

20 mins 20 mins 30 mins 

46/X46 King’s Lynn - Wisbech Two Hourly Two Hourly No Service 

48 King’s Lynn - Grimston Hourly Hourly Two Hourly 

49 King’s Lynn - 
Fakenham 

three 
departures 

Two 
departures 

No Service 

49A King’s Lynn - 
Fakenham 

Six Departures Four 
Departures 

No Service 

54 King’s Lynn - The 
Walpoles 

three 
departures 

Three 
Departures 

No Service 

54A King’s Lynn - St 
Clements School 

One departure No Service No Service 

 

4.2.12. Coach Services operate two bus services from King’s Lynn bus station, both being longer 

distance services towards the south, towards Thetford and Brandon. Table 4-3 summarises 

37



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 19 of 64 

the bus services operated by Coach Services.  These services operate less frequently than 

the more local bus services.  

Table 4-3 - Bus Services Operated by Coach Services (as on 27 March 2024) 

Service Route Mon-Fri Saturday Sunday 

88 King’s Lynn - 
Thetford 

Two Hourly Three Departures No Service 

89 King’s Lynn - 
Brandon 

Three 
departures 

One departure No Service 

4.2.13. Stagecoach operates one bus service (plus a school variant of that service) between King’s 

Lynn and Spalding in Lincolnshire.  These services are summarised in Table 4-4 below 

Table 4-4 - Bus Services Operated by Stagecoach (as on 27 March 2024) 

Service Route Mon-Fri Saturday Sunday 

505 King’s Lynn - 
Spalding 

30 mins 30 mins 60 mins 

505B King’s Lynn - 
Spalding 

One Journey, 
School Days 
Only 

No Service No Service 

4.2.14. First Bus are the fifth and final bus operator in King’s Lynn.  First runs three long distance 

services connecting Peterborough and Norwich which pass through King’s Lynn. Route A 

stops at all stops, Route B operates fast between Wisbech and King’s Lynn and Route C 

operates fast between Swaffham and Norwich.  Details of these services, which broadly 

follow a similar route, are provided in Table 4-5 below. 

38



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 20 of 64 

Table 4-5 - Bus Services Operated by First Bus (as on 27 March 2024) 

Service Route Mon-Fri Saturday Sunday 

A King’s Lynn - 
Norwich 

Early/ Late 
only 

Early/ Late 
only 

Hourly 

B King’s Lynn - 
Norwich 

Hourly Hourly No Service 

C King’s Lynn - 
Norwich 

Hourly Hourly No Service 

A King’s Lynn - 
Peterborough 

Early/ Late 
only 

Early/ Late 
only 

Hourly 

B King’s Lynn - 
Peterborough 

Hourly Hourly No Service 

C King’s Lynn - 
Peterborough 

Hourly Hourly No Service 

 

Summary of Bus services to Key Local Destinations in King’s Lynn 

4.2.15. In general, bus services in King’s Lynn operate at relatively good frequencies during 

weekday daytimes but are typically infrequent before 8am and after 6pm and on Saturdays 

and Sundays.  WSP has reviewed the bus services available to some key destinations 

within King’s Lynn including the hospital, college and several retail and industrial areas.  

This data is described in more detail below.   

Industrial/ Retail Land Uses at Hardwick Road 

4.2.16. Bus services do not currently enter the industrial/ retail parks along Hansa Road, Campbells 

Meadow or Scania Way, but do pass-by on Hardwick Road.  Westbound bus services stop 

near McDonalds and eastbound bus services stop near Next with the westbound bus stop 

providing only a bus stop flag, while a bus shelter, seating and timetable information are 

provided for passengers waiting for the eastbound services.   

4.2.17. Bus services on Hardwick Road are reasonably good, as summarised in   

39



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 21 of 64 

4.2.18. Table 4-6 below, with the bus stops being served by services 32, 37, 38, 39, 88, 89 and the 

three Excel services (A,B and C). 

  

40



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 22 of 64 

Table 4-6 – Bus Services on Hardwick Road 

 Eastbound Westbound 

First Bus 05:42 (Service A) 07:40 (Service B) 

Last Bus 21:12 (Service A) 21:14 (Service A) 

08:00-09:00 Five Buses Four Buses 

17:00-18:00 Five Buses Four Buses 

 

Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Gaywood Road 

4.2.19. The nearest bus stop to the hospital is located within the hospital campus and is served by 

all routes that run past the hospital on A1076 Gaywood Road (33, 34, 41, 48,49 and 49a).  

The hospital bus stop includes a fully enclosed bus shelter, seating and bus timetable 

information.  The bus service patterns at the hospital are summarised in Table 4-7 below.  

Table 4-7 – Bus Services at Queen Elizabeth Hospital 

 Eastbound Westbound 

First Bus 06:38 (approx.) 07:32 (approx.) 

Last Bus 20:20 (approx.) 21:40 (approx.) 

08:00-09:00 Four buses Three buses 

17:00-18:00 Four buses Three buses 

College of West Anglia and University Centre West Anglia, Tennyson Avenue. 

4.2.20. The College of West Anglia is served by three bus stops, one within the college campus that 

is irregularly served by services directly to the college (and has been excluded from the 

table below) and eastbound/ westbound bus stops on A148 Gaywood Road.  None of the 

bus stops provide facilities for bus passengers beyond a bus stop flag.   

4.2.21. In total 11 bus services pass the college on the A148, which are summarised in Table 5-7 

as a follows: 

  

41



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 23 of 64 

Table 4-8 – Bus Services near College of West Anglia (Gaywood Road) 

 Eastbound Westbound 

First Bus 06:32 06:54 

Last Bus 20:13 21:45 

08:00-
09:00 

2 buses 2 buses 

17:00-
18:00 

2 buses 2 buses 

Hardwick Narrows Industrial Estate 

4.2.22. This industrial estate is not directly served by any of the local bus services operating in 

King’s Lynn, with the closest bus stops being located on Hardwick Road.  These bus 

services are a long walk from the closest buildings in the industrial estate and it is 

considered that access by bus, while possible, would be impractical to most.  

North Lynn Industrial Area 

4.2.23. The North Lynn industrial area is located off Bergen Way and the A1078.  The nearest bus 

stop is on Bergen Way, to the western end of the industrial estate, which is served by bus 

services 2 and 4 and the A1081, which is served by bus services 3, 3H, 35 and 36.   The 

bus timings on Edward Benefer Way (Bergen Way) 

Table 4-9 – Bus Services near College of West Anglia (Edward Benefer Way) 

 Eastbound Westbound 

First Bus 06:32 08:04 

Last Bus 16:33 19:12 

08:00-09:00 5 buses 5 buses 

17:00-18:00 No service 4 buses 

 

Bus Fares 

4.2.24. Bus fares are subject to the national single journey cap of £2 until 2024.  In King’s Lynn, a 

flat fare of £1.50 is applied to any single journey that starts and finishes in the King’s Lynn 

town zone, and is valid for all five bus operators serving the town.   

42



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 24 of 64 

4.2.25. A range of weekly, flexible and young person discounts are also available on bus services 

in Norfolk.  Standard rules apply to concessionary travel. Additionally, the Norfolk “Fusion” 

ticket allows passengers to use buses run by all15 bus operators in Norfolk.   

Summary of Issues 

4.2.26. The following issues have been identified with bus services in King’s Lynn: 

 Since the last similar data collection exercise several bus services have been withdrawn.   

 The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic influenced travel patterns, particularly a reduction 

in bus usage.   

 Bus journey time reliability is severely impacted by the delays encountered on the 

highway network through the centre of the town.   

 Operational problems throughout King’s Lynn such as low hanging trees and 

indiscriminate parking constrain bus services and reduce journey time reliability. 

 Bus services from villages are inadequate with limited bus services in the evenings, early 

morning and on Sunday’s. 

 There is very limited bus priority provision in King’s Lynn and the width of the highway 

network is constrained to provide dedicated on-road provision for buses without severely 

impacting on the highway network generally. 

 Norfolk Bus Fleet had 18% of Euro VI or zero emission vehicles in September 2021 

which is far from completion of Zero emission bus fleet targets. 

 Passengers travelling from north to south of the town need to change bus services via 

the bus station which does not offer an attractive option for passengers and increases the 

passenger journey times. 

 The bus fare levels in King’s Lynn are not competitive with town centre car parking 

charges, particularly if people are travelling in a group.  

 There is opportunity for improved ticketing between the operators which could offer a 

better public transport experience to users. 

 Whilst the network coverage of bus services in King’s Lynn is good and there are some 

areas that have a very high level of service frequency, the employment areas are poorly 

served in terms of their times of operation which often do not cover the shift times with 

the last service being relatively early in the evening. 

 The waiting environment at most bus stops is poor, with many bus stops simply 

consisting of a bus stop flag with no further facilities or bus information provided.   

4.2.27. As a result of the cumulative impacts of these issues the bus services have a relatively low 

mode share for the journey to work at 2%, whereas the national average was 4%.  

4.3 West Lynn Passenger Ferry 

4.3.1. The West Lynn Passenger Ferry allows transport over River Great Ouse providing a link 

between West Lynn and King’s Lynn which avoids a much longer vehicular route via 

Wisbech Road into King’s Lynn. The ferry service is often referred to as the “steps ferry” 

due to historic use of steps leading down to the riverbank where it docks. It runs from the 

43



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 25 of 64 

West Lynn Terminal (Ferry Square, West Lynn, PE34 3JQ) and the King’s Lynn Terminal 

(Ferry Lane, King’s Lynn, PE30 1HN).  Free parking is available at the West Lynn terminal. 

The service is operated by West Lynn Ferry Ltd and has been running since 1285 in various 

guises, it provides a convenient service for commuters who wish to avoid travelling via 

Wisbech Road or A47 and parking in the town centre.  The ferry route and boarding 

locations are shown in Figure A7 in Appendix A. 

4.3.2. As of March 2024, the ferry service runs Monday to Saturday between 7am and 6pm – at 

peak times the ferry will run continuously (7am to 9am and 5pm to 6pm) and every 30 

minutes from 9am to 5pm. 

4.3.3. The ferry can transport up to 12 passengers at a time.  The fare structure is summarised in 

Table 4-10 below.   

Table 4-10 – King’s Lynn Ferry – Fares (as on 27 March 2024) 

Age Type Fare 

Adult Single £1.40 

Adult Return £2.30 

Child Single £1.10 

Child Return £1.70 

4.3.4. At high tide, the ferry runs between pontoons at West Lynn and King’s Lynn, however at low 

tide the pontoons can be grounded and passengers sometimes have to cross the mud flats 

on wooden boards.  There is no disabled access to the ferry at present, and it can be 

difficult for passengers with limited mobility to access the ferry on the West Lynn side.   

Summary of Issues 

4.3.5. The following problems have been identified with the West Lynn Ferry service: 

 Operational Delays – Mechanical issues and maintenance requirements can result in 

delays and suspension of the service, especially during the winter months where adverse 

weather conditions lead to disruptions and cancellations.  

 The tidal nature of the river means that the conditions are operationally difficult at low tide 

with a need to walk along gangplanks to access the boat. This makes it an inaccessible 

service for disabled users / pushchairs / elderly or very young people as there is also a 

stepped access to the water from the Quayside in King’s Lynn. 

 During peak hours the ferry may experience capacity constraints as it can only take up to 

12 passengers at a time. 

 At busy times there is insufficient car parking on the West Lynn side  

 In terms of specific maintenance: 

44



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 26 of 64 

4.3.6. There are isolated locations where the concrete beneath the step tread over-cladding has 

disintegrated to the extent where the tread over-cladding has become loose and has 

inadequate support. Loose tread over-cladding to be re-attached including reinstatement of 

adequate support beneath the tread over-cladding.   

4.3.7. At one location the top handrail adjacent to the groyne has become detached from its 

vertical support post. Handrail to be re-connected to the vertical post.   

 Ferry usage has declined from circa 80,000 passengers in 2018-19 (pre-Covid) to circa 

25,000 passengers in 2022-23 (post-Covid).  We recommend that the reasons behind 

this decrease are investigated by way of a public user survey study, with the overall 

purpose of this study being to establish what might now be the realistic achievable 

demand for the ferry service.   

4.4 Rail 

The Station 

4.4.1. King’s Lynn railway station is accessed by vehicle from Blackfriars Road where three car 

parks are available for station car parking, providing in the order of 300 spaces. Bus 

services are available outside the station where a shelter is provided and space for two 

vehicles. On Blackfriars Road there is a dedicated area for buses to stop (effectively a bus 

lane) with a separate signal to give priority to the bus to get it back into the traffic which 

works with the pedestrian crossing from the rail station into Waterloo Street to the town 

centre.   

4.4.2. Cycle provision in the form of two-tier sheltered racks is also available on the rail station 

forecourt.  Storage for other cycle equipment is not available. There are also car parking 

areas and a taxi-rank adjacent to the station.  

History 

4.4.3. Historically, King’s Lynn enjoyed rail links north, east and west as well as to the south.  

Withdrawn passenger destinations include: 

 Norwich and Spalding (withdrawn in 1959) 

 Hunstanton (1969) 

 Wisbech and Dereham (1968) 

 London Liverpool Street (2023) 

4.4.4. The routes of some of these lines can still be seen in the urban areas of King’s Lynn, and 

into the wider countryside.    

45



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 27 of 64 

4.4.5. Figure 4-1 shows an extract from the New Adelstrop Rail Atlas showing the existing and 

historic rail roues in the vicinity of King’s Lynn. 

  

46



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 28 of 64 

Figure 4-1 - Existing and Historic Rail Routes around King’s Lynn 

 

Station Usage 

4.4.6. Train journeys to work accounted for 1% mode share for travel to work (Census 2011).  The 

Office of Road and Rail (ORR) Estimates of Station usage 2022-2023 shows that the 

number of rail passengers using King’s Lynn railway station (757k) had fallen by nearly 24% 

since the passenger peak of 991k in 2018-2019 – this appears to be as a result of a 

significant drop to only 240k passengers during the height of the Covid-19 lockdown 

restrictions, and indicates that patronage has not recovered to previous levels.   

Train Services 

4.4.7. King’s Lynn is a northern terminus for the Great Northern services from London Kings 

Cross. Before changes to their timetable made in May 2023, Greater Anglia also ran 

services to King’s Lynn from London Liverpool Street, however, these services are now 

withdrawn.   

4.4.8. The tables below summarise the service patterns on Great Northern services to and from 

King’s Lynn railway station.  

  

47



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 29 of 64 

Table 4-11 – Great Northern Train Services from King’s Lynn (to June 2024) 

 Mon-Fri Saturday Sunday 

First Departure  04:44 05:42 08:25 

Last Departure 22:42 22:58 22:25 

Peak Frequency 30 mins 30 mins Hourly 

Off-Peak Frequency Hourly Hourly Hourly 

Table 4-9 – Great Northern Train Services to King’s Lynn (to June 2024) 

 Mon-Fri Saturday Sunday 

First Arrival 06:30 07:30 09:54 

Last Arrival 00:56 00:56 00:53 

Peak Frequency 30 mins 30 mins Hourly 

Off-Peak Frequency Hourly Hourly Hourly 

4.4.9. Most rail services from King’s Lynn run to London King’s Cross, with a stopping service to 

Cambridge then non-stop to London.   

4.4.10. The journey time to Ely is 30 minutes; Cambridge 50 minutes; and London just under two 2 

hours. The rail service is therefore attractive for both commuter weekday and leisure 

weekend destinations. 

4.4.11. King’s Lynn railway station provides an interchange to bus services, 104 cycle parking 

spaces, car parking and a taxi rank for ongoing travel.  The station is also walkable to the 

main town centre facilities. King’s Lynn station has accessible access to the platforms and 

also provides accessible toilet facilities, disabled parking and boarding ramps for wheelchair 

users to get onto the train.  

4.4.12. There are two level crossings in King’s Lynn at: 

 Tennyson Avenue 

 Extons Road 

4.4.13. These are activated for inbound and outbound trains to King’s Lynn and therefore the 

barrier is down twice an hour through the day and 4 times per hour during the peak hours.  

On average the barrier is down for approximately 2 minutes for each train. 

4.4.14. Early discussions with some Borough Council members have indicated the desire to see 

additional new railway stations to serve a parkway demand and/or park and rail services to 

the town centre. Such measures can be evaluated in the multi-criteria assessment 

48



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 30 of 64 

framework (MCAF) that will form part of the process for devising the Transport Strategy and 

Implementation Plan. A likely first step would be an initial feasibility study.  

Summary of Issues 

4.4.15. The following issues have been identified within the  

 Rail use makes up a relatively small proportion of commuter trips at 1%.  

 Use of King’s Lynn station has not recovered to pre-pandemic levels; 

 Cycle storage provision at the rail station is not covered by CCTV and is therefore not 

attractive to use due to security issues. 

 Access to the rail station is limited by its location on the central gyratory and the 

availability of car parking and reliable bus services. 

 The disused rail line between King’s Lynn and Hunstanton could be better utilised for 

additional rail provision or rapid transport system, however some sections have now 

been built over.   

 Withdrawal of Greater Anglia services reduced destinations and service availability from 

King’s Lynn 

 Local Member desire for new rail infrastructure 

4.5 Taxis 

4.5.1. Table 4-10 below details the Hackney Carriage operations in King’s Lynn, Figure A8 in 

Appendix A shows the locations of the appointed taxi ranks around the main town centre 

area.  

Table 4-10 – Taxi Rank Facilities in King’s Lynn (based on BCKLWN website) 

Location Nearby Premises Operating Times 

Corner of New 
Conduit Street  

Vancouver Quarter Monday to Sunday 

24 hours 

Blackfriars Street Taste of India   Monday to Sunday 

10pm – 6am 

Norfolk Street Between RSPCA and 
Rowlingson’s 

Monday to Sunday 

6pm – 8am 

Tuesday Market 
Place 

Fraser Dawbarns / 
Globe Hotel / Prezzo’s 

Monday to Sunday 

24 hours 

Sainsburys Lower 
Level Car Park  

Sainsburys Monday to Sunday 

24 hours 

King’s Lynn Railway Railway Station Monday to Sunday 

49



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 31 of 64 

Station Car Park 
24 hours 

4.5.2. The Hackney Carriage fare card (effective from 7 January 2022), which is the latest version 

found on the King’s Lynn and West Norfolk website indicates that the minimum fare is £5 for 

journeys of less than one mile and £5 for the first mile, then £2 per mile thereafter for longer 

journeys.   Waiting time is charged at 25p per minute or part thereof.  Taxi services are 

provided private operators, licenced by the council.  

50



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 32 of 64 

5 Network Audit: Active Modes 

5.1 Introduction 

5.1.1. This section covers travel by cycling, walking and wheeling and describes the facilities and 

opportunities that are available within King’s Lynn. The proposals section focuses on the 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) for King’s Lynn dated 2022, as the 

aim of the LCWIP was to identify improvements to the existing network of walking and 

cycling.  

5.1.2. Providing improved opportunities for active travel will encourage people in King’s Lynn to 

look again at modes such as walking and cycling which will help to bring health, economic 

and environmental benefits to the town. 

5.2 Cycling 

5.2.1. The National Cycle Network (NCN route 1) within King’s Lynn can be seen from Figure A9 

in Appendix A. As shown, the National Cycle Network runs through the central areas of the 

town and provides cyclists with a network linking South Lynn to South Wootton; with a route 

that is predominantly off road. The NCN route ties in with an extensive network of local 

cycling routes, also shown in Figure A9, which combine to provide cycling links to most of 

the key locations throughout King’s Lynn such as areas with key employment, industrial 

estates, and retail parks. Furthermore, the cycling network links to major transport hubs, 

including the bus and railway stations, this allows for multi modal sustainable transportation 

options.  

5.2.2. There are a series of cycle parking facilities in the town centre area, as shown by a padlock 

in a yellow circle on the cycling map. Cycle parking in the town centre mainly comprises 

Sheffield Stands which are passively observed by passing pedestrians, and possibly by 

CCTV from adjacent buildings, but are typically located in areas with lower pedestrian 

footfall.  The cycle parking is generally outdoors and not covered.  

5.2.3. Figure A10 in Appendix A of this report shows indicative cycling isochrones, identifying 

approximate travel time catchments from the town centre at 1km intervals, equivalent to 

approximately a five minute cycle ride, up to a total distance of 5km (20-25 minutes cycle 

time).   

5.2.4. The cycle isochrones indicate that most destinations and key locations such as places of 

education (Nursery, Primary, Secondary and Tertiary schools), Queen Elizabeth Hospital, 

places of employment and services available at Riverside Industrial Estate (north), the Port 

of King’s Lynn (north), North Lynn Industrial Estate (north), Hardwick Retail Park (southeast) 

and St Nicolas Retail Park (north) are accessible within approximately a 10 minute travel 

catchment by bicycle of the town centre. The local routes and NCN1 allows cyclists to 

access key destinations such as the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, places of education 

(Nursery, Primary, Secondary and Tertiary) and places of leisure activities (public parks and 

51



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 33 of 64 

leisure centres) using off road and quieter routes (in some cases these routes would be less 

direct, but safer than the fastest route) 

5.2.5. The wider areas within an estimated cycle time of 10 to 25 minutes include places of 

employment at the south namely Saddlebow Industrial Estate and Willows Business Park; 

moreover, transport links allow access to areas such as West Lynn, West Winch, South 

Wootton and Clenchwarton. Evidently, a large proportion of the wider area is accessible by 

cycling over a reasonable journey time.  This cycle isochrone figure provides an indication 

of the cycle catchment for the centre of King’s Lynn, however a number of the routes 

included may be unsuitable for cycle use due to the nature of the road or lack of available 

dedicated cycle provision along the route and inherent safety issues.  However, there is a 

high level of provision for off-road cycle routes in King’s Lynn which means that cycling is an 

attractive mode of travel in the town.   

5.2.6. The document review has identified that the residents of King’s Lynn cycle more than the 

national average as part of their daily commute 9% for the journey to work – with the 2011 

Census Method of Travel to work data indicating that the national average for England and 

Wales was only around 3%.  

5.2.7. The higher-than-average cycling mode share is indicative of the relatively short distance of 

most commuting trips in King’s Lynn, with over three quarters of these trips being easily 

undertaken in less than 25 minutes by bicycle.  It is likely a similar cycling mode share may 

apply to other journey purposes in the local area too, as the greater the distance the lower 

the cycle mode share. Also, if facilities such as cycle lanes are available studies show that a 

greater amount cycle trips are performed hence the town centre areas are more 

accommodating to cycle activities than outer areas. 

5.2.8. Levels of connectivity between the existing cycle networks could be improved and these 

have been identified in the King’s Lynn Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 

(2022). Furthermore, introducing additional cycle links could be developed to facilitate the 

existing cycle demand, as this would also promote and support growth in cycle usage. 

Summary of Issues 

5.2.9. The following sets out some of the issues and challenges, as well as suggested solutions to 

improve the levels of cycling in King’s Lynn: 

 Cycling on the roads is considered dangerous around King’s Lynn due to the following: 

parked cars on the road / footway; narrow roads with cars parked on both sides; potholes 

and drains. 

 Notable areas include Gaywood clock and London Road/ Railway Road which could 

benefit from on-road protected cycle provision where space allows. 

 There is no safe place for cyclists to safely cross the A149 to access King’s Lynn which 

limits opportunities for cycle trips from here. 

 Cycling on roads is dangerous in King’s Lynn; safety issues include parked cars 

impeding the road/footway which narrows key routes and alters accessibility. 

52



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 34 of 64 

 A lack of safe crossings for cyclists particularly on the A149 which limits opportunities for 

cycle trips. 

 Lack of cycle storage provision and safety particularly at the train station where storage 

provision is not monitored by CCTV.  

 Traffic congestion around King’s Lynn during peak hours make cycling a less appealing 

mode of transportation. 

 The network connecting the town centre with surrounding villages isn’t sufficient.  

 There are areas where improved signage and way marking would be beneficial for 

cyclists and pedestrians.  

 General maintenance of the cycling network could be improved such as addressing 

paving defects, vegetation clearing and uneven surfaces. 

 Lack of education on the benefits of active travel to help make cycling a more attractive 

option. 

 Awareness and enforcement of cycling on the footways is a grey area which needs to be 

dealt with through education and policy. 

 The road network in King’s Lynn at peak times is not conducive to on-road cycle usage at 

peak times and cyclists should make themselves visible to other road users at all times to 

assist with their safety. 

 Cycle provision from the villages outside King’s Lynn urban area is limited and could be 

improved to encourage increased cycle trips from these neighbouring areas. 

 Hardings Way and the Quayside provide a very valuable asset for cyclists in King’s Lynn 

offering a traffic-free environment.  This is an important leisure and tourism route for 

cyclists. 

 Safety of crossing the B1144 Tennyson Avenue. Areas of concern include the junction 

with Gaywood Road, as well as the junction at King George V Avenue. Notable areas 

either side of the level rail crossing on Tennyson Avenue. Considering the NCN1 runs 

through The Walks park and continues over this road the safe passage of cyclists and 

pedestrians should be facilitated – assessments of collision data, desirable locations and 

related desire-lines further support these recommendations. 

 Overall, wayfinding signs and road markings were observed as acceptable and 

consistent. General maintenance to ensure information displayed to pedestrians and 

cyclists is clearly presented. 

 Observable pavement defects did not indicate major structural issues such as subgrade 

failures; rather, assessment of the area realised faults with surface/binder layers that 

require general localised maintenance. 

 The relationship of cycling and other modes is a general issue in King’s Lynn, cycles on 

trains and buses could be beneficial to overall transport mode share and making these 

modes more attractive to users. 

 More journeys associated with education could be provided for by bicycle if safe routes 

and crossings could be provided along with improved secure storage. 

 Not all parts of the cycle network in King’s Lynn are linked together. 

53



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 35 of 64 

5.3 Walking & Wheeling 

5.3.1. A pedestrian audit was undertaken to assess accessibility, connectivity and safety of 

pedestrian and cycle movements in King’s Lynn. In general, most roads in King’s Lynn are 

flanked by narrow, poor quality footways (although this is worst in the older parts of the 

town), however the town is relatively flat.   

5.3.2. Figure A11 of Appendix A shows indicative walking isochrones, based on an average 

walking speed of 80m per minute (circa 4.8kmph), up to a maximum walking distance of 

2km (20-25 minute walk) from the town centre. The walking isochrones demonstrate that all 

local facilities in the town centre are within easy walking distances.  

5.3.3. Health care facilities such as the Southgate Medical Centre and St Augustine’s Surgery, as 

well as places of education (Nursery, Primary, Secondary and Tertiary schools) are 

accessible with a maximum walking time of 5 to 15 minutes from the town centre. 

5.3.4. Within 15 to 25 minutes travel on foot it is estimated that popular destinations over the wider 

area are achievable, this captures places of employment and services at Riverside 

Industrial Estate (north), the Port of King’s Lynn (north), North Lynn Industrial Estate (north), 

Hardwick Retail Park (southeast) and St Nicolas Retail Park (north).  

5.3.5. Walking is estimated to be performed by around 17% to 22% of the residents within the 

town centre and North Lynn area; moreover, approximately 14% to 17% of residents in 

areas immediately around the town centre travel to work on foot; specifically, South Lynn 

areas between the town centre and the A148 (around the South Gate), as well as parts of 

Gaywood. This behaviour is again linked to travel distances between origins (homes) and 

destinations (work place). It is intuitive that over shorter distances the likelihood of walking 

trips being performed increases – where an acceptable standard of provision and access for 

pedestrians is provided.  Appendix A provides further geographical evidence of this. 

5.3.6. This demonstrates that travel on foot is currently accommodated by existing infrastructure.  

As stated, the document Pedestrian and Cycle Audit Report identifies issues concerning 

pedestrian accessibility, connectivity and safety levels. Furthermore, studies have shown 

that aesthetically pleasing public spaces, pedestrianised locations and areas not infringing 

on safety do encourage individuals to undertake more walking trips. Further improvement to 

the pedestrian environment should be encouraged to maintain the high mode share. 

Summary of Issues 

5.3.7. The following sets out some of the issues and challenges, as well as suggested solutions to 

improve the levels of walking and wheeling in King’s Lynn:  

 King’s Lynn has a high level of walking within the town, due to the layout of the road 

network it is often quicker to get around by walking and routes which provide important 

cross-town connections should be encouraged 

 Footway maintenance is important to ensure people are able to safely continue to walk 

within the town. 

54



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 36 of 64 

 Provision needs to be made for pedestrians on desire lines to enable them to access 

their destination as easily as possible within a safe environment.  A number of locations 

have been identified where accident clusters have occurred during a five year period and 

improvements to provision at these locations should be considered. 

 Hardings Way and the Quayside provide an important route for pedestrians wishing to 

avoid London Road to access the town centre and education in the Friars area. 

 There are some areas where improved way-marking for pedestrians would be beneficial. 

Some wayfinding signs were observed to be weathered/dirty which obstructs the 

displayed information at the footway between Blackfriars Road to Lynn Road. 

 The road width at Railway Road is very wide with 3-4 lanes of traffic at the pedestrian 

crossings with no central island for protection in instances when the traffic lights change 

before walking all the way across causing a serious hazard for pedestrians and 

vulnerable road users in particular. 

 Protection for pedestrians crossing the gyratory where it is 4-lanes wide with no central 

island is very hazardous. 

 During pedestrian and cycle audit it was observed that vehicles were forced to mount 

footways at Friars Street as drivers negotiated around parked vehicles which could 

compromise pedestrian safety. 

 General maintenance issues were also observed during the pedestrian and cycle audit 

that may improve safety standards if addressed. These include re-painting of surface 

marking (for example, to indicate cycle lanes), replace or repair guard rail at Blackfriars 

Road and address parked vehicle mounting footways obstructing pedestrian movements. 

5.4 LCWIP Proposals 

5.4.1. The key proposals in the LCWIP primarily focus on improving existing routes by 

implementing a range of measures including: 

 Reduced guard railing 

 Improved footways 

 Introducing cycle paths/ lanes 

 Providing additional crossing points and reducing wait times at existing crossings.  

 Improved wayfinding 

5.4.2. A summary of the LCWIP proposals map can be found in Figure A12 Appendix A. Further 

details can be found in the LCWIP document.  

55



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 37 of 64 

6 Network Audit: Highway Network 

6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1. Within this section a number of areas of private travel and transport are covered in terms of 

their application in King’s Lynn.  Namely these are: 

 Roads 

 Accidents 

 Congestion hotspots 

 Car parks 

 Access and loading 

6.1.2. Each section is structured to provide an overview of the baseline information about the 

range of service provided for private travel in King’s Lynn, followed by specific information 

relating to the 2011 Census journey to work for that mode. A summary of the main problems 

and issues identified through a combination of document review, local observations and 

inputs from the officer and stakeholder consultations is also provided. 

6.2 A-Roads 

6.2.1. King’s Lynn sits at the confluence of several major roads including the A10, A17, A47 and 

A149.  These roads are described in more detail below. It is noted that several low 

numbered A-roads end at King’s Lynn showing its historic importance as a settlement.   

6.2.2. The A10 runs from central London to King’s Lynn passing through Hertfordshire and 

Cambridgeshire.  Locally the A10 provides a direct connection from King’s Lynn to 

Downham Market, Ely and Cambridge.  

6.2.3. The A17 runs from Newark-on-Trent to King’s Lynn providing a direct link from King’s Lynn 

to the A1.    

6.2.4. The A47 is a significant route running from Leicester to Great Yarmouth, passing around the 

southern side of King’s Lynn.  The A47 provides links from King’s Lynn to Leicester, 

Peterborough and Wisbech to the west and to Norwich and Great Yarmouth to the east.  At 

Great Yarmouth, the A47 heads south to Lowestoft.  The A47 is a trunk road, managed by 

National Highways.   

6.2.5. The A148 runs from the A47 just to the south of King’s Lynn, through the town, then west 

towards Fakenham, Holt and ends at Cromer on the north Norfolk coast.   

6.2.6. The A149 starts at the Southgates roundabout in King’s Lynn, runs south and then wraps 

around the eastern side of King’s Lynn.  After King’s Lynn the A149 continues north passing 

Dersingham, Heacham and Hunstanton before continuing along the north Norfolk coast 

through Wells-next-the-Sea, Sheringham and Cromer before turning south towards North 

Walsham and Stalham before ending at Great Yarmouth.   

56



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 38 of 64 

6.2.7. There are several large interchanges situated south of King’s Lynn, including: 

 A47/ A17/ Clenchwarton Road (Pullover roundabout), located to the south-west; 

 A47/ A148/ High Road interchange, located south of King’s Lynn; and 

 A47/ A10/ A149 West Winch interchanges, located to the southeast. 

6.2.8. To the east of King’s Lynn, there are also several roundabouts along the A149 including: 

 A149/ Greenyard Way (Jubilee Roundabout) providing a connection into the northern end 

of the Hardwick Industrial Estate; 

 A149/ A1075/ B1145 roundabout, providing a connection to the Gaywood area and 

hospital to the west and several villages to the east; 

 A149/ A148 (Knight’s Hill) roundabout providing access to South Wootton area to the 

east and the destinations along the A148 described above.   

6.2.9. The final access to the King’s Lynn area is at a staggered priority junction between the 

A149 and Lynn Road providing access to Castle Rising and North Lynn 

6.3 Local Roads 

6.3.1. The three main routes into King’s Lynn from the south are: 

 From the Pullover roundabout, via Clenchwarton Road and Wisbech Road; 

 From the A47/ A148 interchange, via Nar Ouse Way; and 

 From the West Winch interchange via Hardwick Road.   

6.3.2. All three routes from the south meet at the Southgates Roundabout which is a five-arm 

signal-controlled roundabout, which is congested at peak times. To the north of the 

Southgates Roundabout, London Road continues towards the town centre and North Lynn, 

while Vancouver Avenue bypasses the town centre and provides a link towards the 

Gaywood area.  

6.3.3. London Road continues north until it meets the Railway Road/ Blackfriars Road gyratory 

located to the east of the main town centre shopping area.  Both the bus station and railway 

station are located just off of this gyratory.   

6.3.4. To the north of the Gyratory, John Kennedy Road links towards North Lynn via Edward 

Benefer Way while to the west the A148 continues through Gaywood to South Wootton and 

the A149.   

6.4 Car Parking 

6.4.1. There are a variety of different council and privately owned car parks around King’s Lynn.  

The car parks in the town centre area are primarily council owned, while there are also large 

car parks at the retail park areas and supermarkets.   

6.4.2. Further assessment and detail of the car parking in King’s Lynn is being prepared and a 

summary will be added to this report.  

57



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 39 of 64 

6.5 Congestion Hotspots  

6.5.1. An assessment of congestion hotspots in King’s Lynn has been undertaken through 

information gathered from Google Maps.  

6.5.2. Figure A13 in Appendix A identifies and summarises the areas where congestion typically 

occurs within the highway network in King’s Lynn during the morning and evening peak 

hours (08.00-09.00 and 17.00-18.00). The areas with a slow movement of traffic are marked 

in red. 

Table 6-1 – Congestion Hotspots 

 

 Location Time Description 

Ref No. 
1 

A148/B1144/A1
49 (Southgates)  
roundabout. 
At southern 
outskirt of town 
centre 

AM peak Hardwick Road.  
Northwest-bound traffic: 
Heavily congested 
Extending back approx. 475m from 
roundabout to Bridge Bungalow 
Returning to free-flow at approx. 550m back 
from B&Q King’s Lynn 
A148-Nar Ouse Way.  
Northbound traffic: 
Heavily congested 
Extending back approx 200m from 
roundabout 
Returning to free- flow at King’s Lynn 
Innovation Centre, slight congestion for 
approx. 700m 
Wisbech Road.  
Eastbound traffic: 
Heavily congested 
Extending back approx. 230m from 
roundabout.  
Returning free-flow speeds after approx. 
600m passing Bunnet Avenue 
A148-London Road.  
Northbound traffic: 
Heavily congested 
Extending from roundabout approx. 105m to 
Southgate Street 
Traffic speed slightly affected after that 

PM peak A148-London Road.  
Southbound traffic: 
Heavily congested 
Extending from roundabout along length of 

58



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 40 of 64 

 Location Time Description 

route 
B1144-Vancouver Avenue.  
Southwest-bound traffic: 
Heavily congested 
Extending approx. 250m to York Road from 
roundabout 
Slight congestion along whole route apart 
from a small section near Extons Road 

Ref No. 
2 

A47/A17/Clench
warton Road 
(Pullover) 
junction  
At south-
western 
outskirts of town 
centre 
 
 

AM peak A17  
Eastbound traffic: 
Congestion extending from roundabout for 
approx. 100m. 
A47  
Westbound traffic: 
Congestion extending from roundabout for 
approx. 115m. 
 

PM peak A47  
Westbound traffic: 
Congestion extending from roundabout for 
approx. 380m. 
 

Ref No. 
3 

London Road, 
leading to 
Railway Road  
 

AM peak  
 

 

London Road 
Northbound 
Slightly congested approx. 485m from 
Southgate to Istanbul Kebab and Pizza 
House  

PM peak  
 

London Road and Railway Road 
Southbound 
Heavily congested extending from roundabout 
for approx. 700m. 
 

Ref No. 
4  

A148/Blackfriar
s Street/ Austin 
Street/ 
Gaywood Road/  
Located at 
northern part of 
town centre. 
 

AM peak; 
and 
PM peak 

All areas of junction and length of routes are 
slightly/heavily congested during all peak 
travel times in all directions. 

Ref No. 
5 

Tennyson 
Avenue/A148 
priority T-
junction 

AM peak; 
and  
PM peak  

All areas of junction and length of routes are 
slightly/heavily congested during all peak 
travel times in all directions. 

59



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 41 of 64 

 Location Time Description 

Situated at 
eastern part of 
town centre 

Ref No. 
6 

Lynn 
Road/A1076 
priority T-
junction 
Located at 
eastern part of 
town centre 

AM peak; 
and  
PM peak  

All areas of junction and length of routes are 
slightly/heavily congested during all peak 
travel times in all directions. 

Ref No. 
7 

A148/ Wooton 
Road 

AM peak; 
and 
PM peak 

Wooton Road - Southbound 
 
AM peak.  
Slight congestion from the Clock Pharmacy to 
just before Denmark Road. 
PM peak.  
Heavy congestion from the Clock Pharmacy 
to Lavendar Road. 
Returning free-flow speeds after approx. 
500m. 
 
 

Ref No. 
8 

Queensway/ 
Gayton Road 
priority junction 
East of town 
centre 
 
 
 

AM peak; 
and  
PM peak  

Queensway onto Gayton Road 
Southbound turning (left) eastbound onto 
Gayton Road 
Slightly congested along length of road  
Better conditions during PM, returning to free 
flow towards end of PM peak hour 
Queensway onto Gayton Road  
Southbound turning (right) westbound onto 
Gayton Road 
Slightly congested along relative length of 
road 

Ref No. 
9 

A1076/A149-
Queen 
Elizabeth Road 
roundabout 
East of King’s 
Lynn 

AM peak; 
and  
PM peak  

AM peak. 
Northern arm of the roundabout operating at 
optimal capacity. 
All other approaches slightly/heavily 
congested for significant lengths of the link.  
PM peak: 
All approaching routes slightly congested. 
South and western arms exiting the 
roundabout slightly congested for significant 
proportion of the road. 

Ref No. A149/ A47 AM peak A149-Queen Elizabeth Way.  

60



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 42 of 64 

 Location Time Description 

10 grade-
separated 
(Hardwick) 
junction 
At south-
eastern 
outskirts of town 
centre 

Heavily congested Northeast-bound from A47 
roundabout to A149 roundabout approx. 
2.5km. 
 
A10-Westwinch Road.  
Southbound traffic: 
Slightly congested. 
Extending from roundabout along length of 
route for approx. 3km. 
 

PM peak A10-Westwinch Road.  
Southbound traffic: 
Slightly congested 
Extending from roundabout along length of 
route, past Babingley Place. 
Hardwick Road.  
Northbound and Southbound traffic: 
Slightly congested 
Extending from roundabout along length of 
route, past Hardwick Industrial Estate. 
 

 

6.5.3. Due to lack of significant route choice in the highway network within King’s Lynn and the 

limited alternative routes available, when incidents occur, either within the town or on the 

strategic network (A47 and A149), excess traffic congestion can occur.  

6.5.4. Besides the conditions during the AM and PM peak hours it is also recognised that there 

can also be issues on the highway network as a result of leisure and tourism traffic wishing 

to access the north Norfolk coastline and nearby towns to the north of King’s Lynn.  It is 

understood that congestion on the A47/A149 can result in leisure and tourism trips diverting 

through King’s Lynn during seasonal peaks. 

6.6 Loading / Access 

6.6.1. The Vancouver Centre is a key shopping area in King’s Lynn providing a variety of shops, 

services and restaurants for people visiting the town centre. While areas are currently under 

redevelopment, the key access areas are presumed to remain. Access for loading to the 

Vancouver Centre is provided from a subsequent network of minor roads branching off 

Railway Road; therefore, depending on the location of the loading area, Vancouver Centre 

is directly accessible via Blackfriars Street, Paradise Parade, Market Street, Oldsunway, 

Paradise Lane and Norfolk Street. Moreover, Railway Road is a one-way (northbound) 

system forming part of the inner gyratory road with Austin Street and Blackfriars Road, 

which links to the key transport routes of the A418 as well as John Kennedy Road.  

61



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 43 of 64 

6.6.2. Elsewhere in the town centre access for loading is available via the local network. There is 

no evidence of any other areas where loading/unloading provides conflict with general traffic 

flow and exacerbates congestion in the town. 

6.6.3. There are a number of routes through the town where vehicle weight restrictions are in 

operation, the most recent restrictions were applied to the B1144 which runs along 

Vancouver Avenue, Tennyson Road and Tennyson Avenue limiting the vehicle weight to 

7.5 tonnes due to local concern about the use of this route. Other routes within the study 

area enforcing vehicle weight limits to a maximum of 7.5 tonnes include Loke Road – except 

for access; Wisbech Road – except for loading; and Gaywood Road and Lynn Road – 

except for loading.  The residential areas of Queen Mary Road and Wisbech Road also 

have weight restrictions in place.  There is a height restriction at the historic South Gate of 

4.1m for northbound traffic on London Road and on Tennyson Road where the road meets 

the railway of 5m.  Also, a width restriction of 2m is in place on Priory Lane. 

6.7 Accidents 

6.7.1. Accident plots and supporting accident information for the 5 years from 2017 to 2023 have 

been supplied by NCC to assist in identifying accident cluster areas in King’s Lynn including 

cases where cyclists or pedestrians were involved. The information from 2017-2023 was 

chosen so that we can exclude the main Covid-19 Pandemic Lockdown year (2020-2021) 

and still have 5 years of data. The following analysis provides an overview of the accident 

statistics for King’s Lynn.  Figure A14 of Appendix A shows the locations all accidents 

across Kings Lynn while Figure A15 of Appendix A shows more details of the accident 

cluster locations.  

6.7.2. To summarise for the 5-year period there have been 653 total accidents with 9 Fatal (1%), 

134 Serious (25%), 510 Slight (74%), 139 in wet conditions (21%) and 137 in dark 

conditions (21%). 

6.7.3. There is a concentration of collisions in the town centre of King’s Lynn, where the road 

network is dense and the potential for vehicle/vehicle and vehicle/pedestrian collisions is 

high. 

6.7.4. For all modes the main accident corridors are: 

 Hardwick Road 

 A47/A149 at Hardwick 

 A149 Hardwick Industrial estate 

 A1076 Gayton Road. 

6.7.5. There is a less densely populated section with accidents with a higher severity, the A10 

South of King’s Lynn.  

 Notable groupings: 

 A17/A47 Pullover Roundabout. 

 A148 A47 Saddlebow Roundabout. 

62



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 44 of 64 

 A1076/A148 Junction Gaywood. 

Accidents Involving Pedestrians 

6.7.6. For the 5-year period there have been 108 accidents involving pedestrians: 

 1 Fatal (1%) 

 27 Serious (25%) 

 79 Slight (74%) 

 30 in wet conditions (28%) 

 17 in dark conditions (15%) 

6.7.7. Most common vehicle manoeuvre is going ahead – 70 in total (65%). Right turns accounted 

for 9 (8%) of accidents involving pedestrians. 

Accidents Involving Cyclists 

6.7.8. For the 5-year period there have been 111 accidents involving cyclists: 

 1 Fatal (1%) 

 27 Serious (24%) 

 83 Slight (75%) 

 18 in wet conditions (16%) 

 17 in dark conditions (15%) 

6.7.9. Most common vehicle manoeuvre is going ahead – 97 in total (87%), loss of control 

accounted for 18 (16%) of accidents involving cyclists, left turns accounted for 9 (8%) of 

accidents involving cyclists, right turns accounted for 6 (5%) of accidents involving cyclists, 

overtaking accounted for 5 (5%) of accidents involving cyclists. 

6.7.10. Several clusters for accidents involving pedestrians were identified using a threshold of a 

100m and 5 to generate these ‘clusters’. For cycle accidents a similar threshold 100m 

radius was used, though requiring 3 accidents rather than 5 involving cycles to generate 

clusters. Both cluster descriptions are shown in Table 6-2. 

Table 6-2 – Accident clusters involving pedestrians and cyclists 

Cluster Location Accidents Description Parties 
involved 

1 Chapel Street 
– 22m from 
Junction with 
Unclassified 
Road 

6 accidents, 
8 casualties 

Restrictive footway widths and low 
level kerbs at this location given its 
‘historic environment feel’, several 
pedestrians struck by vehicles 
whilst on pavement suggesting cars 
struggling to pass one another and 
mounting low kerb and coming into 
conflict with pedestrians – likely 
high footfall due to car park to the 

Pedestrians 

63



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 45 of 64 

west & east. 

2 Woolpack 
Pub 
Tennyson 
Avenue near 
Junction With 
A148 

6 accidents, 
11 
casualties 

High footfall generated from the 
nearby colleges & school. Footway 
width restrictive in this respect 
which lends itself to pedestrians in 
the carriageway. Signal junction 
does not have push button facilities 
on signals on all arms which may 
create risks of ‘stranded’ peds on 
the refuges. 

Pedestrians 

3 A148 London 
Road 3m 
from Windsor 
Road 
Junction 

5 accidents, 
5 casualties 

Wide highway corridor into KL town 
centre. Most pedestrians struck 
when crossing road, central 
hatching between both signal 
crossing facilities may give 
pedestrians a sense of ‘refuge’ 
when crossing, though does not 
offer physical protection. 

Pedestrians 

4 Lynn Rd 
A148 – 25m 
from Junction 
with St Faiths 
Drive 

8 accidents, 
8 casualties 

Wide highway corridor, no cycle 
signage or provisions, though 
shared use & signage present on 
Queen Mary Rd heading 
south.   Poor compliance with red 
signal by cycles and vehicles 
demonstrated in accident record. 

Cyclists 

5 John 
Kennedy 
Road 
(A1078) at 
Junction with 
North Street 

6 accidents, 
7 casualties 

2 cycle accidents reference 
striking/misjudging the kerbing 
when turning left into North Street 
junction. Wide highway corridor 
with ample footway widths – shared 
use ends to north so cyclists are 
encouraged on carriageway 
through this section. 

Cyclists 

6 Southgates 
(A148) near 
Junction with 
Vancouver 
Avenue 
(B1144) 

4 accidents, 
5 casualties 

King’s Lynn STARS Project there is 
project currently being undertaken 
to address this junction and issues 

Cyclists 

7 Clenchwarton 
Road near 
Junction with 

3 accidents, 
3 casualties 

Cyclists using off carriageway 
cycleway appear to come into 
conflict with vehicles where facility 

Cyclists 

64



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 46 of 64 

Cycleway 
near Amazon 
Hub 

intersects carriageway/junction - 
recently submitted scheme appears 
to address the cycle accident 
record at this location. 

8 Tennyson 
Road near 
Rail Crossing 
and access 
to St James 
Park 

3 accidents, 
3 casualties 

Part of the college safety area, 
cyclist warning signs present, cycle 
collisions do not appear to have 
common contributory factors. Likely 
high crossing movements from 
recreation ground to facilities to 
east. No formal crossing along this 
stretch. No traffic calming 
measures present to encourage 
compliance with 20mph limit 

Cyclists 

9 Lynn Road 
(A148) near 
Jet Garage 

3 accidents, 
3 casualties 

Nearby signal crossing was 
updated in 2022/23 to a parallel 
cycle crossing facility in light of 
accident record involving cyclists 
performing north to south 
movements. 

Cyclists 

10 A1076 
Gayton Road 

3 accidents, 
3 casualties 

Wide off carriageway cycle facilities 
on both sides of carriageway – 1 
cycle collision involved a vehicle 
turning left across the cycle, cyclist 
did not give way at junction – cycle 
markings appear worn. 

Cyclists 

6.8 Air Quality 

6.8.1. The Borough Council has a duty to review and assess Local Air Quality and put measures 

in place to address exceedance of the national standard. As a result of this work, an area 

around the Gaywood Clock and Railway Road/London Road were assigned as Air Quality 

Management Areas (AQMA) for which Air Quality Action Plans (AQAP) have been 

prepared. 

6.8.2. Through this process projects have been delivered through the previous air quality action 

plan that have contributed towards improving air quality in King’s Lynn.  

6.8.3. Improvements at the King’s Lynn transport (bus-rail) interchange in the town centre that 

incentivises the use of public transport and active travel.     

6.8.4. Urban traffic control and selective vehicle detection systems being implemented to help 

reduce congestion and pollution levels in the town centre and where the AQMA’s are 

located.    

65



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 47 of 64 

6.8.5. Installed electric vehicle (EV) charging points within Council owned car parks across the 

district to help assist residents with no off-street parking provision the opportunity to charge 

their electric vehicle overnight at one of the selected sites. The previously installed 50kW 

rapid EV charging points have recently been replaced with newer units.    

Current Air Quality Results:   

6.8.6. No exceedances of the National Air Quality Strategy standards were identified for Nitrogen 

Dioxide (NO2) during 2022.   This is the third year running where compliant results have 

been observed with no exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective.   

6.8.7. Trends in NO2 following the first Covid lock-down year of 2020 showed a marked reduction 

of around 20% in the annual mean NO2 concentrations.  

6.8.8. A key part of the Norfolk County Council Environmental Policy is to work towards ‘carbon 

neutrality’ in Norfolk by 2030 and to collectively achieve ‘net zero’ carbon emissions in 

Norfolk County Council, Suffolk County Council and the Broads Authority estates, also by 

2030. 

6.9 EV Charging  

6.9.1. The availability of EV charging infrastructure throughout King’s Lynn will help to encourage 

residents to switch from petrol and diesel cars to electric vehicles, which helps to reduce 

carbon emissions. The location and number of EV charging options available in King’s Lynn 

Appendix are shown in Figure 16 in Appendix A. This plan does not consider any private 

residential charging for individuals/ businesses that are not available to the general public. 

6.9.2. Clusters of chargepoints are typically found at key locations throughout the area such as in 

King’s Lynn town centre, south-east near Hardwick Road and next to the A47/A17 Pullover 

roundabout. Charging points are typically operated by charging networks such as BP 

Chargemaster, Pod Point or GeniePoint. These points offer different types of chargers to 

accommodate different types of electric vehicles. For example, AC chargers (level 2), rapid 

DC chargers (level 3), or a combination of both. The availability of fast chargers helps to 

make the charging process more efficient, reducing charging times. 

6.10 Summary of Issues 

6.10.1. The key issues for motor vehicle travel in King’s Lynn are as follows: 

 The traffic signals in King’s Lynn are perceived to not always cope with the congested 

traffic situation in King’s Lynn in the most effective way, which is considered partly as a 

result of the control room monitoring not being full-time.  There are also instances where 

the traffic lights appear to have long pauses. 

 The traffic lights on Hardwick Road outbound after the railway bridge at Hansa Road 

cause queueing back to Southgate roundabout causing issues for buses and other 

vehicular traffic. 

66



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 48 of 64 

 Gayton Road / Gaywood is a major route for all the residential estates to access central 

King’s Lynn with no alternative route available for vehicular traffic.  Air quality issues are 

present in the Gaywood Clock area and with proposed levels of growth in the town this is 

likely to get worse. 

 Congestion on the A10 through West Winch is also problematic during the peak hours. 

 Car parking in the town consists mainly of surface level car parking and analysis has 

shown that a number of these car parks reach capacity on an average weekday and 

weekend, and particularly during the pre-Christmas period.  The analysis has also 

highlighted the car parks that have available capacity and management of space 

availability could further benefit traffic flow in the town. 

 With additional development the car parks will reach capacity and additional provision will 

be required. 

 The traffic associated with the Queen Elizabeth Hospital causes peak hour congestion 

problems.  

 The Southgate and London Road experiences high levels of congestion in the peak 

hours and increased journey times. 

 The central gyratory in the town centre experiences air quality issues, particularly on 

Railway Road and London Road. 

 A number of locations where traffic congestion typically occurs have been identified. 

 Car parking is relatively cheap in the town centre and buses sit in the general traffic 

making the bus unattractive for people who have a car. 

 Increased development is going to give rise to more travel and trips in the town 

exacerbating existing issues.  Investment in the transport infrastructure to support the 

additional development is required. 

 With the revised road layout it is perceived that it is more difficult for vehicles to exit from 

Valingers Road to London Road during the peak hours. 

 When incidents occur on the highway network either within King’s Lynn or on the 

surrounding strategic highway network (A149/A47) there is no alternative routing to deal 

with this and the existing highway network is unable to cope. 

67



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 49 of 64 

7 Policy Overview 

7.1 Introduction  

7.1.1. A review of recently published Borough and County documents have formed the basis of 

the document review.  These have been reviewed to develop a comprehensive picture of 

the overall transport opportunities and constraints, and to understand the current schemes 

that are being, or have recently been delivered, in the King’s Lynn area. The full document 

list is provided in Appendix B. 

7.2 National Policy 

7.2.1. The current National policy directive is derived from the following recent Government 

publications which are summarised in the following sub-sections: 

 Decarbonising Transport: A Better, Greener Britain, DfT June 2021 

 Bus Back Better: A National Bus Strategy for England, DfT March 2021 

 Gear Change: A Bold Vision for Cycling and Walking, DfT July 2020 

Decarbonising Transport: A Better, Greener Britain 

7.2.2. Published by the Department for Transport in June 2021, sets out a bold vision for reducing 

the impact of travel and transport on our local and global environments. It recognises the 

challenges and dangers of continued growth in car use and advocates that making “public 

transport, cycling and walking the natural first choice for all who can take it”. 

Bus Back Better: A National Bus Strategy for England 

7.2.3. Published in March 2021 forms the cornerstone of our plans for buses in Norfolk, which is 

structured around the key challenges of ensuring that buses experience a renaissance in 

quality and use, fuelled by the funding that will be made available by DfT in response to this 

BSIP. 

Gear Change: A Bold Vision for Cycling and Walking 

7.2.4. Published in July 2020 provides a new standard for making provision for, and encouraging 

journeys by, active travel modes. Proposals for cycling, walking and buses can work best 

where they are fully integrated to work hand in hand along travel corridors, and come 

together at hubs to facilitate onward travel and first/last mile access. 

7.3 Transport East 

7.3.1. Transport East is a collaboration of local authorities in the East of England that is 

developing strategies and programmes around key regional themes – gateways to global 

markets, multi-centred economic growth and energised coastal areas. 

68



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 50 of 64 

7.4 Key Local Strategies 

King’s Lynn Transport Strategy & Implementation Plan 

7.4.1. The current Transport Strategy for King’s Lynn is an important reference point in terms of 

the schemes included in the implementation plan.   

7.4.2. The Implementation Plan categorised schemes into short, medium and long-term strategies, 

as well as by the type of scheme. A review of some of these priority improvement schemes 

are provided here and included in Appendix @. 

7.4.3. Short Term Options (delivered by 2022) 

 Access for buses to bus station via Albion Street; Improved Albion Road exit for buses. 

 Reduction in outbound delays at Hansa Road, Hardwick Road junction outbound for 

public transport. 

 Provide enhanced access to West Lynn Ferry. 

 Cycle lane continuity throughout King’s Lynn. 

 Port of King’s Lynn highway design access improvements; 

 Tennyson Avenue Pedestrian and Cycle Improvements. 

 Pedestrian crossing provision review on London Road. 

 Review traffic signal timings for North Street approach / retail park traffic at Hardwick. 

 Co-ordinated traffic signals such as Loke and John Kennedy Road. 

 Gaywood Clock / Queen Mary Road traffic light improvements and junction redesign. 

 Railway station bus layby re-design. 

 Southgates roundabout highway capacity improvements. 

 Vancouver Avenue improved lane management. 

 Estuary Road/ Edward Benefer Way junction improvements. 

 Low Road, Castle Rising Road, Wooton Road and Grimston Road junction 

improvements. 

 Provide a comprehensive Car Parking Strategy for King’s Lynn. 

 Work with schools to provide safe alternatives to private car for school children. 

7.4.4. Medium Term Options (delivered by 2030) 

 Increase use of Harding’s Way for buses – address issues at Millfleet and Wisbech Road 

to Hardwick Road to make more advantageous for buses. 

 Town centre gyratory re-design. 

 Provide enhanced access to the West Lynn Ferry. 

 Queen Mary Road, Fairstead, Hardwick improvements in linkages for pedestrians and 

cyclists. 

 Hardings Way opened for additional traffic to alleviate congestion. 

 Southgate highway capacity enhancements. 

 Winston Churchill Drive QEH access widening. 

 QEH roundabout capacity improvements. 

 A149 Dualling up to Knights Hill and junction capacity improvements. 

69



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 51 of 64 

 A149 Jubilee Roundabout capacity improvements.  

 West Winch Housing Access Road to enable housing growth and relief to the A10. 

 

7.4.5. Long Term Options (delivered after 2030) 

 Hospital to A149 direct access link – Provide an additional exit onto A149 for exiting 

traffic from the hospital to ease local congestion issues around the hospital.  

 Wisbech Road to Nar Ouse Way link Road - Investigate the potential for providing a 

highway link between Wisbech Road and Nar Ouse Way to assist in alleviating 

Southgates roundabout. 

 Train frequency improvements – Implementation of Ely Area Enhancement Scheme to 

delivery doubling of train frequency’s to half- hourly. This will improve rail links to 

Cambridge and London and improve connections to Norwich from Ely. 

 

King’s Lynn Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) 

7.4.6. Local Cycling and Walking Plans have been produced to define the active travel networks 

and produce a prioritised list of schemes to be delivered as defined in the Government’s 

Vision for Cycling and Walking, “Gear Change”.  As part of the LCWIP planning, access to 

public transport, key transport hubs and future transport hubs are used as a key attractor 

when developing the prioritised routes. The LCWIP for King’s Lynn weas adopted in 

February 2022, and a Norfolk-wide LCWIP covering the remaining areas, has been 

completed and adopted in spring 2024. 

Norfolk Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) 

7.4.7. The Norfolk BSIP secured £49.6m for improvements across the County.  Some of this 

funding is allocated to implementing general county-wide initiatives and some is targeted at 

improving journey times, passenger experience and levels of service on key bus corridors.  

The following schemes are currently being developed in King’s Lynn: 

 Hardwick Road BSIP scheme 

 Portland Street / Rail Station BSIP scheme 

Local Transport Plan 

7.4.8. Norfolk County Council is currently developing a new Local Transport Plan (LTP) for the 

county and launched a major consultation exercise to garner views of residents and visitors 

on a wide range of transport matters. 

7.4.9. Appendix B1 provides a summary of the documents including a review of updates since the 

previous version. 

70



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 52 of 64 

Summary 

7.4.10. Overall, it is evident from the national, sub-national and local policy and strategy context 

that cycling and walking (active travel) and bus services will play an enhanced and vital role 

in delivering a greener and more inclusive transport network across Norfolk and in King’s 

Lynn, building on experience and contributing significantly to the journey towards a Net Zero 

transport network. 

71



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 53 of 64 

8 Future Transport Schemes 

8.1 Summary of Transport Schemes 

8.1.1. This section identifies the key transport schemes and interventions that have already been 

the subject of feasibility studies and / or have funding committed for their delivery including 

the following: 

8.1.2. There are several transport schemes in the King’s Lynn area that have either secured 

funding or where funding bids have/ will be made. These transport schemes are as follows: 

 King’s Lynn Sustainable Transport and Regeneration Scheme (STARS) (successful 

Levelling Up Fund bid and Outline Business Case (OBC) is being prepared)  

 A47/ A17 Pullover Roundabout Improvements (In MRN programme and a draft Strategic 

Outline Case has been prepared) 

 A10 West Winch Housing Access Road schemes (Awaiting outcome of OBC) 

 Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) schemes: 

 Hardwick Road 

 Portland Street / Rail Station 

8.1.3. There are also other regeneration initiatives coming forward in King’s Lynn: 

 Southgates Masterplan and Regeneration 

 Active and Clean Connectivity (A&CC) schemes 

 King’s Lynn and Hunstanton Mobility Hubs 

8.1.4. Table 8-16 - King’s Lynn Transport Schemes 

Scheme Name / 
Location 

Type of 
Intervention 

Funding Source Expected Delivery 

King’s Lynn STARS 

- Gyratory  

- Southgates 

active travel / 
public transport / 
public realm / 
heritage / 
regeneration 

LUF/NCC/BCKLWN  

- July 2026 

- June 2027 

A47/A17 Pullover active travel / MRN National 
Highways/DfT 

-  

BSIP Portland Street / 
Railway Station 

public transport  DfT/Norfolk County 
Council 

- April 2025 

- April 2027 

BSIP Hardwick Road public transport DfT/Norfolk County 
Council 

- April 2025? 

- April 2027 

72



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 54 of 64 

A&CC scheme  active travel Town Deal - March 2026 

    

King’s Lynn and 
Hunstanton Mobility 
Hubs 

active travel / 
public transport  

NCC - April 2025 

    

 

73



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 55 of 64 

9 Future Growth 

9.1 Introduction 

9.1.1. King’s Lynn has been identified as an area for growth in the BCKL&WN development plan 

documents.  It is located as a regional centre and a number of development sites have been 

identified within the plan period up to 2035. Figure A16 in Appendix A provides an overview 

of the potential development locations in King’s Lynn.  Geographically these are in the 

north, centre, east and south of the town with a small number of sites in West Lynn.  Sites 

for both employment and residential have been identified. 

9.1.2. This shows in the region of 7,000 additional residential units in King’s Lynn up to and 

beyond the current development plan document period.  With the current traffic and travel 

problems that have been identified in King’s Lynn it will be important that the development 

contributes to improvements in transport infrastructure for all modes of travel to 

accommodate the level of additional trips that could result from the prospective residential 

development. 

9.1.3. Notable additional employment areas have also been identified to the south of the town: 

east of Hardwick next to the A149; and to the south of Saddlebow. 

9.2 Local Plan Schemes 

9.2.1.  

9.3 Other Committed Development Schemes 

9.3.1.  

9.3.2.  

9.4 Issues & Opportunities 

9.4.1. There have been a number of local congestion issues already identified within this 

document as well as limiting issues with all modes of travel.  An holistic approach to 

addressing these alongside each other will be required to accommodate the level of growth 

that is currently planned for King’s Lynn. In line with government priorities and the new 

Local Transport Plan, there will need to be a strong emphasis on encouraging sustainable, 

low carbon modes of transport to meet national and local targets.  

9.4.2. This issues and opportunities report has identified the primary areas of interest for King’s 

Lynn and the development of the Transport Strategy will aim to consider how these issues 

can be addressed alongside forecasting for future travel needs to identify and develop 

measures that could enable the planned levels of development to stimulate local economic 

growth. 

74



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 56 of 64 

9.4.3. Of particular importance in the future growth of King’s Lynn will be the potential worsening 

of current congestion areas in the town centre during weekday peak hours and for 

accessing the leisure and tourism in the nearby coastal towns: 

 Central gyratory / London Road / Gaywood Road / Lynn Road 

 A47 / A149 junctions to the south and east 

 A10 corridor 

 Southgate / Hardwick and Wisbech junctions 

 South Wootton A148 / Castle Rising Road 

9.4.4. The LCWIP and the BSIP as well as funding through Town Deal and LUF will support the 

agenda for improving sustainable and active modes of travel, with recognition that these 

modes have an important role in King’s Lynn.  It will be imperative that active and 

sustainable modes of travel are developed and supported to promote and encourage 

continued growth in these modes that already provide a valuable contribution to supporting 

King’s Lynn as a sustainable urban centre. 

9.5 Change in Transport and Travel 

9.5.1. It is very evident that expected changes in the way people and goods move could impact 

significantly on the way our towns and cities look in the future.  Whilst we are on the cusp of 

potential significant change it will be important as part of this update to the Transport 

Strategy to understand how these changes in technology, behaviour and movement could 

impact on the transport and travel in King’s Lynn.   

9.6 Carbon Reduction 

9.6.1.  

 

75



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 57 of 64 

10 Potential Interventions 

10.1 Introduction 

10.1.1. This section aims to set out a number of areas of potential interventions that could help to 

alleviate some of the problems and issues that have been identified in King’s Lynn in the 

preceding sections of this document.  These are set out as general opportunities for change 

that could be investigated further to develop the long-list of potential schemes for evaluation 

in relation to the transport strategy as well as setting out ideas for each mode. 

10.1.2. The areas that contribute towards addressing the transport problems and issues in King’s 

Lynn can be broadly classified into three elements: social, environmental and economic. 

Figure 11 below shows the relationship between these three factors and their potential 

application to King’s Lynn development schemes.  This does not include a comprehensive 

set of solutions that are available for King’s Lynn but demonstrates the inter-relationship of 

these three elements that impact on or are impacted by transport. 

  

76



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 58 of 64 

Figure 11. Contributing Factors to Transport in King’s Lynn 

 

  

Environmental  

Economic Social 

Environmental: 

 The green infrastructure assets that currently 

exist should be protected when implementing 

urban growth schemes 

 Ensure the air quality measures meet the 

national standards in all area, that being an annual 

mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) objective of 40μg/m3, 

particularly Gaywood and the Town centre,  

 Enhance public transport services to reduce the 

reliance of private car, therefore, reducing the 

overall traffic flows, lowering pollution levels 

Social: 

 Integrated public transport fares and ticketing 

making travel affordable contributing towards 

social inclusion; 

 Ensuring travel is comfortable, minimal 

journey times and reliable; 

 Enforce road safety standards with appropriate 

footways, cycle lanes, roads and crossings. 

 Bus routing analysis to improve connectivity; 

 Potential park and ride facilities (in the south 

and in the town centre); and 

 Bus shelter and station improvements increase 

accessibility levels. 

 

Economic: 

 Build strategic connections to improve journey 

times from Norfolk linking to London, the 

Midlands, north of England and Scotland. 

Increasing potential business opportunities. 

 Develop efficient transport infrastructures 

allowing sustained growth in the area achieve 

economic potential. King’s Lynn development 

schemes incorporate retail, leisure, culture, 

entertainment, community, professional 

services and industrial operations. 

77



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 59 of 64 

10.2 Public Transport 

10.2.1. The pandemic has led to a reduction in public transport demand and opportunity and the 

situation in King’s Lynn is not yet where it was prior to the pandemic, with both bus and rail 

usage still lower than previously recorded.  Some general areas that have been identified as 

potential constraints on public transport usage in King’s Lynn are as follows: 

 Bus routing alternatives 

 Bus timetables with real-time information 

 Bus priority at traffic signals 

 Park and Ride, particularly in relation to the Nar Ouse ferry link from West Lynn 

 Fares, ticketing and information / publicity 

 Car parking for the rail station 

 Bus rapid transit / heavy rail links 

 Decarbonised public transport (E.G. ZEBRA, Electric chargepoints / Hydrogen fuelling 

stations for buses). 

10.2.2. Stakeholder inputs through the event will provide a list of potential intervention measures for 

public transport that will be considered during the next stages of the study.   

10.3 Highway Network 

10.3.1. Some general areas that have been identified as potential constraints on the highway 

network in King’s Lynn are as follows: 

 Gyratory configuration alternatives 

 Simplify traffic signals – London Road to Gaywood  

 Manage road space (bus priority, high occupancy vehicle/HOV lanes) 

 Encouraging greater use of Hardings Way for bus services 

 Management of traffic impacts on the historic core 

 Localised junction improvements 

 Hardwick interchange and strategic road improvements 

 Identify air quality management areas (AQMAs) and other low emission zone to make 

alternative modes more attractive. 

10.3.2. Stakeholder inputs through the event will provide a list of potential intervention measures for 

public transport that will be considered during the next stages of the study.   

Active Modes 

10.3.3. Active travel initiatives have achieved significant levels of government funding and interest 

in recent years.  In King’s Lynn there is already a good network of cycle and walk links, 

which provide a significant contribution to peak hour mode share.  A number of 

opportunities have already been identified in King’s Lynn to support the development of this 

network, through the LCWIP, and the walking, cycling and wheeling strategy.  This provides 

a significant opportunity to remove more short distance car trips from the highway network. 

78



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 60 of 64 

Some general areas that have been identified as areas where improvements could be 

beneficial to the pedestrian and cycle network in King’s Lynn are as follows: 

 Improved connectivity and continuity including year round provision 

 Improved wayfinding; 

 Follow desire lines 

 Safety and security 

 Access to education and employment 

 Bike hire/sharing scheme 

 Information and signing 

 Removal of footway parking 

10.3.4. Stakeholder inputs through the event will provide a list of potential intervention measures for 

public transport that will be considered during the next stages of the study.   

10.4 Policy Direction / Transport Demand Management 

10.4.1. Alongside interventions to promote and encourage the use of public transport and active 

modes of travel alongside alleviating congestion in the town there are a number of policy 

initiatives that could influence travel decisions within King’s Lynn and the wider area which 

could have an impact on travel decisions in the future. Key reductions in the need for private 

vehicles can be created through several different schemes: 

 Car parking strategy and pricing 

 Development strategy to direct resource towards future transport provision 

 Staggered education start and finish times 

 Personalised Travel Planning for new developments and existing employers to 

encourage sustainable travel habits (including education / awareness campaigns for 

public events / employment sites). 

 Reduction of road junction capacity in the historical town centre 

 Ride sharing platforms/schemes 

 Improved access to the countryside and coast for tourism and leisure 

10.5 Future Mobility and Technology 

10.5.1. A key factor in transport and travel planning in the next 10-20 years will relate to contributing 

to national and local carbon reduction targets and the application of new technologies.  

Current considerations for King’s Lynn include: 

 Electric bicycles and scooters – is existing shared provision suitable 

 Connected and Autonomous vehicles – we are currently at level 1-2 Autonomy where 

vehicles can take on some responsibilities (lane assist, parking assistants etc) but 

research ongoing to full autonomy (level 5) within next 15 years where there would be no 

human intervention at all other than programming a destination.  May affect car parking 

or drop off demands.   

 Drones and robots – for example some deliveries now use autonomous robots  

79



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 61 of 64 

 Mass Electric Vehicles – current government policy indicates all new vehicles will be 

electric by 2035.  A plan for how the charging infrastructure will be implemented, 

particularly on narrow, terraced streets without off-street parking is being developed.  

10.5.2. These technologies are constantly developing and evolving. 

80



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 62 of 64 

11 Summary and Next Steps 

11.1 Introduction 

11.1.1. This document has gathered information and data from various sources to establish the 

existing transport and travel situation in King’s Lynn and to begin to develop ideas for future 

interventions that could be taken forward to develop a Transport Strategy and 

Implementation Plan.  This section provides a summary of the main transport and travel 

issues that have been identified and describes the next stages feeding into the overall 

transport strategy for King’s Lynn. 

11.2 Problems, Issues & Opportunities 

Public Transport 

11.2.1. The recovery from the pandemic has been slow and bus operations continue to face 

challenges in the area.  The bus service network and frequencies are currently limited by 

the congestion and traffic levels in the town centre which mean bus service operations are 

expensive and liable to delay.  Reliability of bus services is generally considered a key 

factor in their use, alongside convenience and accessibility. 

11.2.2. The geography of the town and the nature of the highway connections means that walking 

and cycling are attractive and popular modes of travel in King’s Lynn, which may be a 

reason why bus usage in King’s Lynn is relatively low compared with national statistics.  

However, there are still opportunities for increased bus usage in the town to assist with 

congestion levels and potential development, however the infrastructure needs to be put in 

place to support this as an alternative to private car travel. 

11.2.3. The ferry connection from West Lynn is a valuable asset to the town and further support and 

investment in this could prove very beneficial for King’s Lynn’s transport system in the 

future.  With the service being limited by the infrastructure, availability of car parking and 

information/publicity, further support and investment in the service could improve its use. 

11.2.4. The rail service in King’s Lynn is currently limited by the single track sections to the south of 

the town.  The only way of improving the service frequency is through addressing this 

constraint.  Rail use generally makes up a relatively small proportion of commuter trips and 

there may be potential for new trips to be transferred to rail.  Access to the rail station is 

limited by its location on the central gyratory and the availability of car parking and reliable 

bus services. 

Active Modes 

11.2.5. The audit and assessment of active modes (cycling and walking) during the previous study 

identified a number of areas where further improvements to pedestrian and cycle access 

could be made.  King’s Lynn has a high mode share of cycling and walking trips and this is 

largely influenced by the geography and highway network.  Short journeys to education 

81



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 63 of 64 

could be targeted to assist with peak hour traffic levels through the encouragement of active 

modes and provision of the necessary infrastructure to make this a safe and attractive 

alternative. 

11.2.6. Investment in active travel through the Active and Clean Connectivity schemes and the 

King’s Lynn STARS project presents significant opportunity to further enhance this. 

Private Vehicular Travel 

11.2.7. The highway network in King’s Lynn is restricted in several areas of the town but most 

notably at the access points to King’s Lynn from the strategic highway network, and 

accessing the town centre at Southgates, London Road, central gyratory, Gaywood / Lynn 

Road.  Traffic congestion at these locations adds to poor local air quality particularly during 

the weekday peak hours and during peak summertime at weekends.  The operation of the 

strategic highway network around King’s Lynn strongly influences the use of the local road 

network in the centre of King’s Lynn and vice versa.  Improvement schemes on the strategic 

highway network at the A10, the A47/A17 Pullover and on the A149 present opportunity to 

alleviate the issues that arise in the town centre. 

11.2.8. Car parking in the centre of King’s Lynn consists mainly of surface car parks and is 

generally well-used.  At its busiest there is likely to be only a small amount of spare capacity 

and at these times searching for car parking spaces can add to traffic congestion levels 

within the historic street network of the town centre.  Some car parks that are more popular 

than others and these tend to be the most centrally located. 

  

82



 

King's Lynn Transport Strategy Update Public | WSP 
Project No.: 70118741 | Our Ref No.: - April 2024 
Norfolk County Council and Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk Page 64 of 64 

12 Ongoing Work and Next Steps 

12.1 Option Development 

12.1.1. The ideas gathered from the document review and stakeholder views will continue to be 

developed and considered over the coming months to develop a long list of potential 

transport improvement schemes. 

12.2 Option Appraisal 

12.2.1. Once the long list of schemes has been assembled, this will be initially appraised against 

the Vison and Objectives for the study, using a bespoke multi-criteria assessment 

framework (MCAF) to categorise key schemes which can be taken forward for further 

development and delivery as funding permits.  Schemes across all modes of travel will be 

covered in this to prepare a short-list of potential schemes for the Strategy which can be 

easily categorised as short, medium and long-term schemes and provide improvements in 

transport in King’s Lynn and help to address the main problems and issues, helping to 

unlock growth and the economic prosperity of the town. 

12.3 Stakeholder Engagement 

12.3.1. A second round of Stakeholder engagement will occur once the MCAF scheme evaluation 

has been undertaken.  This will aim to provide data on the emerging Transport Strategy in 

the context of the appraisal and scheme evaluation that has been undertaken. 

12.3.2. It is currently expected that the Draft King’s Lynn Transport Strategy will be available in late 

2024 once the above work has been completed. 

 

 

 

 

 

83



 

Public 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Unit 9, The Chase 

John Tate Road, Foxholes Business Park 

Hertford 

SG13 7NN 

 

wsp.com 

 
WSP UK Limited makes no warranties or guarantees, actual or implied, in relation to this report, or the ultimate 

commercial, technical, economic, or financial effect on the project to which it relates, and bears no responsibility or liability 

related to its use other than as set out in the contract under which it was supplied. 

84



King’s Lynn Sustainable Transport And Regeneration Scheme 

(STARS) 

The King’s Lynn Sustainable Transport and Regeneration Scheme (STARS) 

comprises changes to two key areas of the town. The first is around the town 

centre Gyratory (one-way system) and will implement bus priority and active 

travel measures in line with the adopted King’s Lynn Local Walking and Cycling 

Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). The second is bus priority and active travel 

highway changes in the Southgates area to enable a masterplan for 

regeneration of this important entry point into the town devised and formally 

adopted by Borough Council of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk. 

Scheme development and the outline Business Case (OBC) preparation is under 

way. The details of the road alignment in the Southgates area are still being 

finalised with regard to satisfying conservation and heritage interests.  

Because, the new government body Active Travel England (ATE) is the modal 

sponsor for the Department for Transport (DfT), who are assessing our business 

case and providing the funding, we are in a dialogue with ATE to get their 

approval for our proposals. This is a new stage in the process for major 

schemes like this and reflects governments commitment to wanting to see 50% 

of all short local journeys being made by walking and cycling. To date we have 

carried out independent checks of our proposals against the new government 

guidance for walking and cycling schemes and submitted our proposals to ATE. 

They have made some high level comments and we are meeting ATE for a site 

visit on 5 June.   

Traffic modelling is being finalised and this will feed into the economic 

appraisal and enable us to fully understand the Value for Money (VfM) of the 

scheme and the impacts on general traffic. When this information is available it 

will be presented to decision makers, members and relevant stakeholders as 

part of the engagement process. 

The OBC is being prepared and it is envisaged that the submission to DfT can 

be made in July/August at the earliest, rather than February 2024. This is in 

part due to delays in commissioning the topographical, drainage and ground 

penetrating radar (GPR) surveys, but more significantly due to the extra time it 

is taking to finalise the Southgates proposals to ensure they can be supported 

by conservation and heritage interests. 

85



POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT PANEL REPORT 
 

REPORT TO: Regeneration and Development Panel 

DATE: 5th June 2024 

TITLE: Local Plan Update: Process to adoption, including Main Modification 
Consultation 

TYPE OF REPORT: Cabinet Report 

PORTFOLIO(S): Councillor Moriarty – Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and 
Development 

REPORT AUTHOR: Alex Fradley 

OPEN/EXEMPT Open WILL BE SUBJECT 
TO A FUTURE 
CABINET REPORT: 

Yes 

 
REPORT SUMMARY/COVER PAGE     
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT/SUMMARY: 

 
This report sets out the accelerated timescales for the Local Plan through to adoption and 
the requirement to consult on the Main Modifications. 
 
KEY ISSUES: 

 
Members are directed to the attached Cabinet report for full details of the key issues. 
 

OPTIONS CONSIDERED: 

 
Members are directed to the attached Cabinet report for full details of the options. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The Panel are requested to consider the report and make any appropriate recommendations 
to Cabinet. 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
To scrutinise recommendations being made for an executive decision.  
 

 
 

86

Agenda Item 11



 

 

  
REPORT TO CABINET 

 

Open/Exempt 
 

Would any decisions proposed : 
 
Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide  YES/NO 
Need to be recommendations to Council      YES/NO 
 

Is it a Key Decision    YES/NO 
  

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 

Mandatory/ 
 
Discretionary /  
 
Operational 

Lead Member: Cllr James Moriarty 
E-mail: cllr.James.Moriarty@West-
Norfolk.gov.uk 

Other Cabinet Members consulted: Cllr Terry Parish 

Other Members consulted: Local Plan Task Group 

Lead Officer:  Alex Fradley  
E-mail: alex.fradley@west-norfolk.gov.uk 
 

Other Officers consulted: Planning Policy Team, 
Development Management Team, Strategic Housing 
Team. 
 

Financial 
Implications  
NO 
 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
NO 
 

Statutory 
Implications  
YES 
 

Equal Impact 
Assessment 
YES 
If YES: Pre-
screening 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
YES 

Environmental 
Considerations 
YES 

 

Date of meeting: 11 June 2024 
 
LOCAL PLAN UPDATE: PROCESS TO ADOPTION, INCLUDING MAIN 
MODIFICATION CONSULTATION 
 

Summary 
The Borough Council formally submitted its Local Plan in March 2022 for 
Examination. In doing so the Borough Council made a formal request to the 
Secretary of State for the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & 
Communities that the appointed Inspectors recommend any modifications 
required to make the Local Plan legally compliant and sound.  
 
The Local Plan Examination process involved a first round of hearings which 
took place in December 2022 and January 2023.  These were then adjourned, 
with reconvened hearings taking place in March and April 2024. As part of this 
an accelerated timescale through to adoption was agreed and has been 
published. This will result in the Local Plan being adopted before the 
conclusion of this financial year (March 2025). The process going forward 
includes consulting on Main Modifications required to ensure that the Local 
Plan is legally compliant and sound. 
 
These Main Modifications will be subject to a six-week public consultation. 
Representations received will inform the Inspectors Local Plan Report. It is 
anticipated that this will recommend that the Local Plan can be adopted 
subject to the inclusion of a series of Main Modifications. Following this a 
report will be prepared and taken to Cabinet and Full Council recommending 
that the Local Plan be formally adopted (February / March 2025).  
 
 
 

Recommendation 
 
Cabinet Resolves the following: 

87



 

 

 
1. Cabinet notes and endorses the agreed accelerated timescale for the 

Local Plan through to adoption, as agreed with the Inspectors at the 
recent Examination hearings, and as set out in the updated Local 
Development Scheme (LDS), April 2024. 

2. Cabinet notes and endorses the requirement to consult on the Main 
Modifications, which is legally required to ensure that the Local Plan 
can be made sound.   

 
Reason for Decision 
To ensure that the Local Plan process, including the upcoming Main 
Modification consultation is noted and endorsed. 
 
 

 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The Borough Council formally submitted its Local Plan in March 2022 for 

Examination. In doing so the Borough Council made a formal request to 
the Secretary of State for the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & 
Communities that the appointed Inspectors recommend any modifications 
required to make the Local Plan legally compliant and sound as follows: 
‘The Council requests, under the terms of Section 20(7C) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, that the appointed Inspector 
recommends any modifications of the Plan that he or she may consider 
would be needed to make the Plan legally compliant and sound. I would 
be pleased if this letter could be treated as the formal request to the 
Secretary of State that is required under that legislation.’ (Please see 
Appendix 1 for the Local Plan submission covering letter). 
 

1.2 The Local Plan  is being examined to assess whether it has been 
prepared in accordance with legal and procedural requirements, and 

whether it is sound(as per the National Planning Policy Framework 

paragraph 35). Plans are ‘sound’ if they are: 
 
a) Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, 

seeks to meet the area’s objectively assessed needs; and is 
informed by agreements with other authorities, so that unmet need 
from neighbouring areas is accommodated where it is practical to 
do so and is consistent with achieving sustainable development; 

b) Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the 
reasonable alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence; 

c) Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective 
joint working on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been 
dealt with rather than deferred, as evidenced by the statement of 
common ground; and 

d) Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of 
sustainable development in accordance with the policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework and other statements of 
national planning policy, where relevant. 

 

88

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65a11af7e8f5ec000f1f8c46/NPPF_December_2023.pdf


 

 

1.3 The Local Plan examination process involved reconvened hearing 
sessions in March and April 2024. The March sessions examined the 
spatial strategy and policies related to this, the economy (retail policy at 
the Hardwick retail area, the south-eastern part of King’s Lynn urban 
area), the West Winch Housing Growth Area, and Wisbech Fringe. The 
April sessions examined further aspects of the spatial strategy, site 
allocations and policies across rural West Norfolk (Key Rural Service 
Centres and Rural Villages), housing land supply and associated policies 
(deliverability and developability of sites), environment policies, 
community and culture policies, and the monitoring framework. 

 
1.4 There are further hearing sessions scheduled for September 2024 to 

examine the Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople site 
allocations and policies. 

 
1.5 As part of the March and April sessions an accelerated timescale for the 

Local Plan through to adoption was agreed and has been published. This 
schedule is available to view at Appendix 2, and forms part of the 
published Local Development Scheme, available to view via the following 
link: https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_develop
ment_scheme 

 
1.6 This accelerated timescale will enable the Local Plan to be adopted before 

the conclusion of the current financial year (March 2025). The process 
going forward includes consulting on the modifications required to ensure 
that the Local Plan is legally compliant and sound. These are known as 
Main Modifications, the consultation taking place following the Local Plan 
hearings and forming the final stage(s) in the examination process. 

 
1.7 The accelerated approach was proposed by the Inspectors to ensure the 

Local Plan is adopted as soon as practically possible.  The Plan period 
has been proposed to be amended to start from 2021/22 through to 
2039/40 (19 years). This is primarily to ensure that that there is 15 years 
remaining of the plan period from the anticipated adoption date, in line 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and associated Planning 
Practice Guidance. Going over the into the following financial year 
(2025/26) would likely result in the Local Plan period being extended by a 
further year (to 2041) and the need for the Local Plan to identify a further 
years’ worth of housing supply to meet local housing need. 

 
1.8 The process is accelerated by separating the majority of the Local Plan 

content from the Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople element. 
This means two Main Modifications consultations. This enables the 
Inspectors to issue their report to the Borough Council as soon as 
possible, meaning a quicker time for overall adoption can be achieved. 

 
1.9  The Borough Council asked formally as part of submitting the Local Plan 

for examination, under section 20(7C) of the 2004 Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act as amended, that the Inspectors recommend 

89

https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme


 

 

Main Modifications. These are changes that materially affect Plan policies; 
necessary to make a submitted Local Plan sound and legally compliant.  

 
1.10 The Inspectors will require the Borough Council to consult on all 

proposed Main Modifications. Depending on the scope of the 
modifications, further Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations 
Assessment may also be required.  

 
1.11 The Main Modifications will be subject to a six-week public 

consultation. This will allow anyone and everyone the opportunity to 
comment on the Main Modifications. It is important to note that the 
consultation relates solely to proposed Main Modifications in the 
consultation schedule and does not allow interested parties to comment 
on other aspects of the Local Plan.   
 

1.12 At the same time the Borough Council will also consult on Additional 
Modifications of its own to deal with more minor matters which are not 
legal or soundness matters, and a schedule of proposed changes to the 
Policies Map. The Policies Map is not subject to the examination but 
should accurately represent spatial elements of policies, this includes for 
example site allocations and development boundaries. 

 
1.13 The Inspectors’ Report on the Local Plan (anticipated early 2025) will 

only be issued once the Main Modifications consultation has taken place 
and the Inspectors have had the opportunity to consider the 
representations on these. It is anticipated that the Inspectors’ Report will 
recommend that the Local Plan be adopted subject to the inclusion of a 
series of Main Modifications which are necessary to allow this. The 
examination concludes once the Borough Council is in receipt of the 
Inspectors’ Report. 

 
1.14 Following on from this a report will be prepared for Cabinet and Full 

Council recommending that the Local Plan be adopted. 
 

2 Options Considered  
 
2.1 Realistically the only option is to procced with the Local Plan process as 

detailed in Appendix 2, because this is a legal process as set out in the  
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012. 
 

 
3 Policy Implications 
 
3.1 It is important that the Borough Council has an adopted Local Plan in 

place which provides a planning policy framework that is consistent with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and is up-to-date. Planning law 
requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan (Local Plan and/ or Neighbourhood 
Plans), unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National 

90



 

 

Planning Policy Framework must be taken into account in preparing the 
development plan and is a material consideration in planning decisions. 
 

3.2 The examination will ensure that the Local Plan is consistent with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, has been positively prepared, 
justified and effective. Once adopted the Local Plan will be a key 
document within the Local Development Plan (alongside any made 
neighbourhood plans and Norfolk County Council’s Minerals and Waste 
Plan). The Local Plan will supersede the entirety of the Borough Council’s 
Local Plan, which currently comprises the Core Strategy (CS 2011) and 
the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (SADMP 
2016). 

 
3.3 It is important to note that once the Local Plan is adopted, under the 

current National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 76), the Borough 
Council will be protected against challenges to its 5-year housing land 
supply for 5 years. This is because the adopted Local Plan will have 
identified at least a 5-year supply of specific, deliverable sites at the time 
that its examination concludes. The aim of this is to encourage adoption of 
local plans and provide protection whilst the next local plan is being 
prepared (they should be reviewed every 5 years). 

 
4 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 None specifically. 

 
5 Personnel Implications 
 
5.1 None specifically. 

 
6 Environmental Considerations 
 
6.1 The Local Plan is a statement of the Borough Council’s planning policies 

relating to environmental matters (also economic and social) and is 
subject to a strategic environmental assessment and sustainability 
appraisal process. 

 
7 Statutory Considerations 
 
7.1 Statutory considerations include: 

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 

7.2  Other relevant considerations include:  

 National Planning Policy Framework. 

 Planning Practice Guidance (including for ‘Plan Making’ and the 
‘Procedure Guide for Local Plan Examinations’).   
 

 
8 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

91



 

 

 

8.2 Please see the completed pre-screening report template included at the 
end of this report. 
 

 

9 Risk Management Implications 
 
9.2 There are two particular issues that result in risks. Firstly, the Government 

has significantly increased the potential penalties for Local Planning 
authorities not delivering housing growth to the required scale. The 5-year 
housing land supply position assesses if there are enough planning 
permissions to meet the housing need over the next 5-year period, and the 
Housing Delivery Test assesses if enough homes have been built out over 
the past 3 years. The ultimate penalty for failure to be able to demonstrate 
a positive 5-year housing and supply position or failure of the Housing 
Delivery Test is the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
This could mean that relevant Local Plan policies may carry less weight / 
could be rendered out of date in the planning decision making process.  A 
new, up to date Local Plan will protect against this.  
 

9.3 Secondly, the Borough Council must keep its Local Plan up to date.  A 
statutory obligation for the Borough Council to prepare and maintain an 
up-to-date Plan is set out in the 2023 Levelling-Up and Regeneration Act.  
There are potential interventions if an authority is looking to rely on older 
policies and allocations; ultimately there could be a risk of Government 
intervention. 

 
 
10 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  
 
10.2 None. 

 
 
11 Background Papers 
 

11.2 Appendix 1 provides the Local Plan submission covering letter. 
 

11.3 Appendix 2 provides the accelerated Local Plan timetable. The Local 
Plan website provides all the details of the examination and the associated 
documents. This can be via the following link: https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/951/local_plan_
review_2016-2036_examination 

 
 
 
 
 

92

https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/951/local_plan_review_2016-2036_examination
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/951/local_plan_review_2016-2036_examination
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/951/local_plan_review_2016-2036_examination


 

 

Appendix 1: Local Plan Submission Covering Letter 

 
Your ref:   

Our ref:  MB/LPR 

Please ask for:  Michael Burton  

Direct dial:  (01553) 616573 

E-mail:    planningpolicy@west-
norfolk.gov.uk  

 

 

  

 Geoff Hall 
Executive Director 

 
Stuart Ashworth 

Assistant Director Environment and 
Planning 

 

By email: plans.admin@planninginspectorate.gov.uk  
 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 – Section 20 
Notice of Submission of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Local Plan 
Review (2016-2036) to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities 
 
29 March 2022 
 
FAO Matthew Giles and Lee McClean (Planning Inspectorate) 
 
Dear Matthew and Lee 
 
I write with reference to the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as 
amended.  In accordance with Regulation 22(3) of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, the Borough Council 
of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk (BCKLWN) is submitting the King’s Lynn and 
West Norfolk Local Plan Review (2016-2036) to the Secretary of State for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 
 
The Council requests, under the terms of Section 20(7C) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, that the appointed Inspector 
recommends any modifications of the Plan that he or she may consider 
would be needed to make the Plan legally compliant and sound. I would 
be pleased if this letter could be treated as the formal request to the 
Secretary of State that is required under that legislation.  
 
The submission documents include the Plan and other documents as required 
by Regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). All the submitted documents, 
including the Local Plan Review, accompanying this letter, are being 
transferred to you by WeTransfer. 
 
In summary there were 111 duly made responses to the Regulation 19 
consultation raising approximately 440 separate representations. There were 

93

mailto:planningpolicy@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:planningpolicy@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:plans.admin@planninginspectorate.gov.uk


 

 

also 3 further responses raising approximately 30 further representations that 
arrived following the close of the consultation, but these were accepted by the 
Borough Council, recorded and submitted alongside the other 
representations. 
 
Copies of the full representations made at the Proposed Submission stage 
are available to view at the Council’s consultation portal at: https://west-
norfolk-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36371/peoplesubmissions/section/.  
These are submitted, as follows: 
 

 Full representations – available to view through the Council’s 
consultation portal 

 Excel spreadsheet of summary representations in Plan order 
(attached) 

 Excel spreadsheet of summary representations in respondent 
order (attached) 

 
The consultation portal also contains copies of all supporting documents as 
published at the proposed submission stage. The core documents are as 
follows: 
 
A1 Pre-Submission Draft King’s Lynn 

and West Norfolk Local Plan 
Review (2016-2036) 

https://west-norfolk-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36371 
[including draft policies map] 

A2 Schedule of Additional 
Modifications to the Local Plan 
Review 

Document presented to Local Plan Task Group, 16 March 2022: 
https://democracy.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=409&MId=5138&Ver=4  

A3 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
Incorporating Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
for the Local Plan Review 

https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-
_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents  

A4 Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(May 2021) 

https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-
_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents  

A5 Equalities Impact Assessment 
Screening (Cabinet report, 15 
June 2021) 

https://democracy.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=4856  

A6 Duty to Cooperate Statement 
(May 2021) 

https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-
_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents  

A7 Regulation 22 Statement of 
Consultation (March 2022) 

Including details of plan preparation process and the potential main 
issues for the examination [Pdf document submitted via WeTransfer] 

A8 Representations on the Pre-
Submission Draft Local Plan 
Review – Consultation Portal 

https://west-norfolk-
consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36371/peoplesubmissions/section/  
 

A9 Statement of Community 
Involvement (June 2017) 

https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/550/state
ment_of_community_involvement_sci  

A10 Local Development Scheme 
(updated June 2021) 

https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_de
velopment_scheme  

A11 Planning Advisory Service Local 
Plan Route Mapper Toolkits 1-4 

Pdf documents submitted via WeTransfer 

94

https://west-norfolk-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36371/peoplesubmissions/section/
https://west-norfolk-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36371/peoplesubmissions/section/
https://west-norfolk-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36371
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=409&MId=5138&Ver=4
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=409&MId=5138&Ver=4
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=4856
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=4856
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://west-norfolk-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36371/peoplesubmissions/section/
https://west-norfolk-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36371/peoplesubmissions/section/
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/550/statement_of_community_involvement_sci
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/550/statement_of_community_involvement_sci
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/550/statement_of_community_involvement_sci
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme


 

 

A12 Statements of Common Ground 
(March 2022) 

Pdf documents attached: 

 Environment Agency 

 Historic England 

 Homes England 

 Natural England 

 Norfolk County Council – Highway Authority/ Lead Local 
Flood Authority (LLFA) 

 

A13 Draft West Lynn: Flood Risk 
Sequential Test (March 2022) 

Pdf document submitted via WeTransfer 

 
Copies of core documents A1-A7 (above) will, in due course, be made 
available to view at the Borough Council’s King’s Court offices (upon 
appointment) and local libraries (as follows) during normal opening hours (see 
Norfolk1 and Cambridgeshire County Council2 websites for further details): 

 Dersingham 

 Downham Market 

 Gaywood 

 Hunstanton 

 King’s Lynn 

 Wisbech  
 
Other Core Documents and the supporting evidence base are available to 
view through the Borough Council’s Local Plan Review web pages 
(https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/902/local_plan_revi
ew_2016_to_2036).  The full suite of submission documents will be sent via 
WeTransfer. 
 
Please confirm receipt of the Local Plan Review submission documents, or 
please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any queries. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Michael Burton 
Principal Planner (Planning Policy) 
 
Attachments: 

[Local Plan Review and full suite of submission documents submitted via 
WeTransfer] 
 
 

 
 

 

                                                      
1
 https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/libraries-local-history-and-archives/libraries/your-local-

library/locations-and-opening-times  

2
 https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/libraries-leisure-culture/libraries/visit-a-library  

95

https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/902/local_plan_review_2016_to_2036
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/902/local_plan_review_2016_to_2036
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/902/local_plan_review_2016_to_2036
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/libraries-local-history-and-archives/libraries/your-local-library/locations-and-opening-times
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/libraries-local-history-and-archives/libraries/your-local-library/locations-and-opening-times
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/libraries-leisure-culture/libraries/visit-a-library


 

 

Appendix 2: Proposed Local Plan Timetable 

LDS Addendum / Update 

 

Month Main Local Plan Gypsy and Traveller Work 

April 2024 w/c 22/04/2024 – 
Preparation of Main 
Modifications (part 1) 
following Hearings. 
 

25/04/2024 – Full Council to 
approve Gypsy and Traveller 
site allocations and policies 
for consultation. 

May 2024 Prep for Main Modifications 
consultation 
 

10/05/2024 – Consultation 
start date (Gypsy and 
Traveller site allocations and 
policies) 

June 2024 Prep for Main Modifications 
consultation 
 

w/c 21/06/2024 – Close of 
Gypsy and Traveller site 
allocations and policies 
consultation 
 

 w/c 24/06/2024 – Start 
consultation on Main 
Modifications 
 

28/06/2024 – Submission of 
Gypsy and Traveller site 
allocations and policy 
responses, with summary 
table of responses, to the 
Inspectors 
 

July 2024 Main Modifications 
consultation period 
 
 
 

 

August 2024 w/c 02/08/2024 – End of 
consultation period on Main 
Modifications 
 

w/c 05/08/2024 – Receipt of 
Gypsy and Traveller MIQ’s 
 

September 
2024 

w/c 9/09/2024 – Submission 
of Main Modification 
responses (part 1) to 
Inspectors with summary 
table of responses 
 

03/09/2024 – 04/09/2024 – 
Gypsy and Traveller 
examination hearings 
 

  Agree Main Modifications with 
Inspectors following 
Hearings. 
 

October 2024  
 

w/c 07/10/2024 – Start 
consultation (Main 
Modifications part 2) 
 
 
 

96



 

 

November 
2024 

 w/c 18/11/2024– Close of 
Main Modifications part 2 
consultation 
 
w/c 25/11/2024- Submission 
of Main Modification 
responses (part 2) to 
Inspectors with summary 
table of responses 
 
 

December 
2024 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Early January – Receipt of Inspectors’ final report 
 
 
 
 
 
04/02/2025 - Cabinet report to consider Inspectors’ Report 
and recommend adoption of the Local Plan 
 
 
27/2/2025 – Full Council adopt Local Plan 
 
 
w/c 03/03/2025 – Begin process of preparing publication 
version adopted Local Plan – Including incorporation of Main 
Modifications and Policies Map amendments etc.. 
 
 
 
10/04/2025 – Expiry of 6-weeks legal challenge period 
 
 

January 2025 
 
 
 
 
 

February 
2025 
 
 
 
 
 

March 2025 
 
 
 
 
 

April 2025 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Stage 1 - Pre-Screening Equality Impact Assessment  

97



 

 

Name of policy/service/function 

 

Local Plan 

Is this a new or existing policy/ 
service/function? (tick as appropriate) 

New   Existing X 

Brief summary/description of the main 
aims of the policy/service/function being 
screened. 

 

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly 
constrained by statutory obligations, and 
identify relevant legislation. 

The Local Plan provides a sustainable planning policy 
framework for dealing with new development in the 
Borough. This includes site specific allocations and 
policies for residential and employment use, and 
economic, environmental, and social policies. 

Local plans must be positively prepared, justified, 
effective and consistent with national policy in 
accordance with section 20 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.   

This Cabinet Report sets out the Local Plan process 
from now through to adoption including the main 
modification consultations. 

Who has been consulted as part of the 
development of the 
policy/service/function? – new only 
(identify stakeholders consulted with) 

n/a 

Question Answer 

1. Is there any reason to believe that the 
policy/service/function could have a 
specific impact on people from one or 
more of the following groups, for example, 
because they have particular needs, 
experiences, issues or priorities or in 
terms of ability to access the service? 

 

Please tick the relevant box for each 
group.   

NB. Equality neutral means no negative 
impact on any group. 

 

If potential adverse impacts are 
identified, then a full Equality Impact 
Assessment (Stage 2) will be required.    

 

 

P
o

s
it
iv

e
  

 N
e

g
a

ti
v
e
 

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

U
n

s
u
re

 
Age   X  

Disability   X  

Sex   X  

Gender Re-assignment   X  

Marriage/civil partnership   X  

Pregnancy & maternity   X  

Race   X  

Religion or belief   X  

Sexual orientation   X  

Other (eg low income, caring   X  

98



 

 

responsibilities) 

Question Answer Comments 

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to 
affect relations between certain equality 
communities or to damage relations 
between the equality communities and the 
Council, for example because it is seen as 
favouring a particular community or 
denying opportunities to another? 

No Policies relate to sustainable land use 
and meeting the needs of all of the 
community as per the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  

3. Could this policy/service be perceived 
as impacting on communities differently? 

No The main modifications are the 
Inspectors and required to make the 
plan sound. They will be consulted upon 
and anyone and everyone will have the 
opportunity to make a representation 
should they so wish. Representations 
will be considered bey the Inspectors 
and inform their Local Plan Report. 

The Local Plan (as submitted) was 
previously subject to Equalities Impact 
Assessment screening (Report to 
Cabinet, 15 June 2021 – p60: (Public 
Pack)Agenda Document for Cabinet, 
15/06/2021 15:00 (west-
norfolk.gov.uk)). 

4. Is the policy/service specifically 
designed to tackle evidence of 
disadvantage or potential discrimination? 

No The Local Plan must meet the test of 
soundness as set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. It is the 
role the Government appointed 
Inspectors who are examining the Local 
Plan to carry this out. 

5. Are any impacts identified above minor 
and if so, can these be eliminated or 
reduced by minor actions? 

If yes, please agree actions with a 
member of the Corporate Equalities 
Working Group and list agreed actions in 
the comments section 

      No Actions: No actions required. 

 

 

Actions agreed by EWG member: 

Claire Dorgan 

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are 
provided to explain why this is not felt necessary: 

N/A 

Decision agreed by EWG member: ………Claire Dorgan…… 

Assessment completed by: Alex Fradley 

99

https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/documents/g4856/Public%20reports%20pack%2015th-Jun-2021%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/documents/g4856/Public%20reports%20pack%2015th-Jun-2021%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/documents/g4856/Public%20reports%20pack%2015th-Jun-2021%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/documents/g4856/Public%20reports%20pack%2015th-Jun-2021%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


 

 

Complete EIA Pre-screening Form to be shared with Corporate Policy (corporate.policy@west-
norfolk.gov.uk)  

 
 

Name   

Job title  Planning Policy Manager 

Date completed  29/04/2024 

100

mailto:corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk


REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 2024/2025 
 

DATE OF 
MEETING 

TITLE TYPE OF 
REPORT 

LEAD 
OFFICER/ 
ATTENDEE 

OBJECTIVES AND 
DESIRED OUTCOMES 

5th June 2024 Appointment of Vice Chair for the Municipal Year Operational Democratic 
Services Officer 

 

 Appointments to Task Groups and Informal Working 
Groups 

Operational Democratic 
Services Officer 

To review and select 
Members to sit on groups 
established by the Panel 

 Economic Strategy for West Norfolk Policy 
Development 

Jemma Curtis To receive an update on 
consultation feedback. 

 King’s Lynn Transport Strategy and STARS update Update Ian Parkes  

 Cabinet Report – Local Plan update – Process to 
Adoption including Main Modification Consultation 

Cabinet 
Report 

Alex Fradley To consider the report and 
make relevant 
recommendations to 
Cabinet. 

 Transport and Infrastructure Informal Working Group 
Terms of Reference 

Operational  To agree Terms of 
Reference for the Informal 
Working Group 

     

CANCELLED 
12th June 
2024 – 
Additional 
Meeting 

Cabinet Report – Guildhall RIBA Stage 3 Options 
CANCELLED – REPORT WILL NOW BE 
CONSIDERED AT JOINT PANEL MEETING ON 18TH 
June  

Cabinet 
Report 

Jemma Curtis To consider the report and 
make and relevant 
recommendations to 
Cabinet. 

     

23rd July 2024 Cabinet Reports which fall within the remit of the Panel 
– to be confirmed 

   

     

10th 
September 
2024 

Cabinet Reports which fall within the remit of the Panel 
– to be confirmed 

   

 Long Term Plan for Towns Policy 
Development 

Jemma Curtis  

 Economic Strategy for West Norfolk – Draft Strategy Policy Jemma Curtis  

101

A
genda Item

 12



Development 

 Draft Car Parking Strategy Policy 
Development 

Jemma Curtis  

     

15th October 
2024 

Cabinet Reports which fall within the remit of the Panel 
– to be confirmed 

   

     

19th November 
2024 

Cabinet Reports which fall within the remit of the Panel 
– to be confirmed 

   

     

2nd January 
2025 

Cabinet Reports which fall within the remit of the Panel 
– to be confirmed 

   

     

18th February 
2025 

Cabinet Reports which fall within the remit of the Panel 
– to be confirmed 

   

     

11th March 
2025 

Cabinet Reports which fall within the remit of the Panel 
– to be confirmed 

   

     

1st April 2025 Cabinet Reports which fall within the remit of the Panel 
– to be confirmed 

   

 
To be scheduled 
 

 Heacham Beach Development opportunities 

 Hunstanton Masterplan Update 

 Southgates Masterplan – previous update provided in September 2023 

 Local Plan Update 

 Report of the Tourism Informal Working Group –following final meeting of the Tourism Informal Working Group – to be 
scheduled once Action Plan has been drafted. 

 
 

 
 

 

102



 

 
 
 

 
FORWARD DECISIONS LIST 
 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

11 June 
2024 

      

 Data Protection Policy 
Review 

Non Council Leader 
Monitoring Officer 

 Public 

 Local Plan Update: Process 
to Adoption including Main 
Modification Consultation 

Key Council Development and Regeneration 
Asst Dir – S Ashworth 

 Public 

 Cabinet Appointments to 
Sub Committees and Task 
Groups 

Non Cabinet Leader 
Chief Executive 

 Public 

 Appointments to Outside 
Bodies 

Non Cabinet and 
Council 

Leader  Public 

 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

26 June 
2024 
(Special) 

      

 The Guildhall RIBA Stage 3 
Options 

Key  Cabinet and 
Council 

Tourism Events and Marketing  
Assistant Dir S Hall 

 Public 

 King’s Lynn commercial 
leasing of land at the 
Willows 

Key Cabinet Business  Part Public and 
part Private- 
Contains exempt 
Information under 
para 3 – 
information 
relating to the 
business affairs of 
any person 
(including the 
authority) 

 

103



 

 
 
 

 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

30 July 2024       

 Review of Alive West 
Norfolk 

Key Council Tourism Events and Marketing 
H Howell - Corporate 
Governance Manager 
 

 Part Public and 
part Private- 
Contains exempt 
Information under 
para 3 – 
information 
relating to the 
business affairs of 
any person 
(including the 
authority) 

 Reduction in the sizes of the 
Planning Committee, 
Licensing and Appeals 
Board and Licensing 
Committee 

Non Council Leader 
Chief Executive 

 Public  

 Article 4 Direction Non Cabinet Regeneration and Development 
Assistant Director – S Ashworth 

 Public 

 Recommendations from the 
Biodiversity Task Group 

Non Cabinet Development and Regeneration 
Asst Dir – S Ashworth 

 Public 

 King’s Lynn Town Football 
Club 

Non Cabinet Property 
Asst Dir – M Henry 

 Private- Contains 
exempt 
Information under 
para 3 – 
information 
relating to the 
business affairs of 
any person 
(including the 
authority) 

 Florence Fields – Tenure 
Mix 

Non Council Deputy Leader 
Exec Director – O Judges 

 Part Public and 
part Private- 
Contains exempt 
Information under 
para 3 – 

104



 

 
 
 

 

information 
relating to the 
business affairs of 
any person 
(including the 
authority) 

 Empty Homes Strategy 
Review 

Key Council People and Communities 
Asst Dir M Whitmore 

 Public 

 Redundancy Payments 
Scheme 

Non Council Leader 
Exec Dir – D Gates 

 Public 

 
 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

17 
September 
2024 

      

 Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Strategy 
Update 

Non Council Community 
Asst Director  - D Hall 

 Public 

 Long Term Plan for Towns Key Council Business 
Asst Dir D Hall 

 Public 

 Review of Appointments to 
Outside Bodies 

Non Cabinet Chief Executive 
Leader 

 Public 

 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

5 November 
2024 

      

 West Norfolk Economic 
Strategy 

Non Council Business 
Asst Dir D Hall 

 Public 

 Disabled Facilities Grant 
Framework 

Key Cabinet People and Communities 
D Whitmore 

 Private- Contains 
exempt 
Information under 

105



 

 
 
 

 

para 3 – 
information 
relating to the 
business affairs of 
any person 
(including the 
authority) 

 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

5 December 
2024 

      

 
 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

14 January 
2025 

      

 
 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

4 February 
2025 (non 
budget 
items) 

      

 Local Plan Key Council Asst Dir – S Ashworth  Public 

 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

5 February 
2025 
(Budget 

      

106



 

 
 
 

 

items) 

 Budget 2025-28 Key Council Finance 
Asst Dir – M Drewery 

 Public 

 
 
Items to be scheduled 
 

 Notice of Motion 7-21 – 
Councillor Kemp – 
Equalities 

Non Council People & Communities 
Asst Dir B Box 

 Public 

 Procurement Strategy Non Cabinet Finance 
Asst Dir – D Ousby 

 Public 

 
 

Custom and Self Build Site 
– Stoke Ferry 

Non Cabinet Regeneration and Development 
Assistant Director - D Hall 

 Public 

 Southend Road Hunstanton Key Cabinet Regeneration & Development  
Asst Dir – D Ousby 

 Public 

 Overnight Campervan 
parking in Hunstanton 

Non  Cabinet Leader 
Asst Director – M Chisholm 

 Public 

 Pay Award 2024 Key Cabinet Leader 
 

 Public 

 

107


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Declarations of Interest
	8 Appointments to Task Groups and Informal Working Groups
	9 To agree the Terms of Reference for the Transport and Infrastructure Informal Working Group
	10 King's Lynn Transport Strategy and STARS Update
	STARS note for R & D

	11 Cabinet Report - Local Plan Update - Process to adoption including Main Modifications Consultation
	Local Plan Update Cabinet Report 11 June

	12 Work Programme and Forward Decision List
	Forward Decisions 0624


